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31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets
CHF m Note

Current assets 523.2 571.6
Cash and cash equivalents 22 69.1 46.7

Trade receivables 12 138.9 155.2

Other receivables 35.9 39.2

Accrued income and deferred expenses 15.1 14.3

Inventories 13 264.2 316.2

Non-current assets 378.2 388.6
Non-current financial assets 22 1.9 1.8

Deferred tax assets 10 30.7 34.3

Property, plant, and equipment 14/21 266.6 267.6

Intangible assets and goodwill 15 79.0 84.9

Total assets 901.4 960.2

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF m Note

Current liabilities 219.3 291.6
Current financial liabilities 22 13.2 39.0

Trade payables 22 86.9 102.5

Other current liabilities 22.4 29.9

Current tax liabilities 16.2 21.2

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 73.1 76.2

Current provisions 17 7.5 22.8

Non-current liabilities 128.4 118.5
Non-current financial liabilities 22 26.9 26.6

Deferred tax liabilities 10 7.4 8.2

Non-current provisions 17 44.9 42.7

Employee benefit obligations 18 49.2 41.0

Total liabilities 347.7 410.1
Shareholders’ equity 553.7 550.1
Share capital 20 0.1 0.1

Treasury shares 20 – 0.0 – 0.0

Reserves and retained earnings 553.6 550.0

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 901.4 960.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet
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1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022

CHF m Note

Net sales 5 1,175.2 1,293.2
Cost of goods sold – 773.5 – 852.4

Gross profit 401.7 440.8
Development costs 6 – 15.7 – 15.6

Marketing and distribution costs – 168.5 – 178.6

Administrative costs – 80.1 – 94.2

Other operating expenses 7 – 17.2 – 27.7

Other operating income 8 9.7 7.9

Operating profit 129.9 132.6
Financial income 5.7 0.9

Financial expenses – 3.8 – 2.5

Group profit before taxes 131.8 131.0
Income taxes 10 – 29.5 – 29.6

Group profit for the year 102.3 101.4
Group profit attributable to shareholders of Forbo Holding Ltd 102.3 101.4

Earnings per share

CHF Note

Basic earnings per share 11 72.55 71.76

Diluted earnings per share 11 72.55 71.76

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
 

Consolidated income statement
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1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022

CHF m Note

Group profit for the year 102.3 101.4
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement:

Remeasurements of employee benefit obligations, net of taxes 10 – 11.1 19.2

Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement:

Translation differences – 47.3 – 36.3

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – 58.4 – 17.1
Total comprehensive income 43.9 84.3
Total comprehensive income attributable to the shareholders  
of Forbo Holding Ltd

43.9 84.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated comprehensive 
income statement
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity

2023

Note
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares Reserves
Translation 
differences Total

 

 

CHF m

January 1, 2023 0.1 – 0.0 947.3 – 397.3 550.1
Group profit for the year 102.3 102.3

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – 11.1 – 47.3 – 58.4

Total comprehensive income 91.2 – 47.3 43.9
Share-based payments 19 4.0 4.0

Treasury shares 20 – 11.7 – 11.7

Dividend payment – 32.6 – 32.6

December 31, 2023 0.1 – 0.0 998.2 – 444.6 553.7

2022

Note
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares Reserves
Translation 
differences Total

 

 

CHF m

January 1, 2022 0.2 – 0.1 882.7 – 361.0 521.8
Group profit for the year 101.4 101.4

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 19.2 – 36.3 – 17.1

Total comprehensive income 120.6 – 36.3 84.3
Share-based payments 19 4.7 4.7

Treasury shares 20 – 0.1 0.1 – 25.4 – 25.4

Dividend payment – 35.3 – 35.3

December 31, 2022 0.1 – 0.0 947.3 – 397.3 550.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022

Cash flow from operating activities
CHF m Note

Group profit for the year 102.3 101.4
Income taxes 10 29.5 29.6

Financial result – 1.9 1.6

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant, and equipment and 
right-of-use assets

14 46.4 55.7

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 15 3.7 5.1

Share-based payments 9 4.0 4.7

Income tax paid – 33.0 – 36.5

Increase in provisions and employee benefit obligations 0.9 3.5

Decrease/Increase (–) in trade receivables 5.2 – 10.0

Decrease/Increase (–) in inventories 29.7 – 65.8

Decrease in trade payables – 9.4 – 3.9

Increase in other net working capital – 17.4 – 4.8

Net cash flow from operating activities 160.0 80.6

Cash flow from investing activities
CHF m Note

Purchase of non-current assets – 45.3 – 30.9

Interest received 1.2 0.8

Net cash flow from investing activities – 44.1 – 30.1

Cash flow from financing activities
CHF m Note

Payment of lease liabilities 21 – 16.7 – 18.4

Decrease of current financial liabilities 22 – 24.6 – 11.7

Interest paid 21 – 2.4 – 1.0

Purchase of treasury shares – 18.1 – 27.5

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 6.5 0.0

Dividend payment – 32.6 – 35.3

Net cash flow from financing activities – 87.9 – 93.9

Change in cash and cash equivalents 28.0 – 43.4
CHF m Note

Total cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 46.7 93.3
Increase/Decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents 28.0 – 43.4

Translation differences on cash and cash equivalents – 5.6 – 3.2

Total cash and cash equivalents at year-end 69.1 46.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated cash flow statement 
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1 General information

Forbo Holding Ltd and its subsidiaries (together con-
stituting the ‘Group’) manufacture floorings, construc-
tion adhesives, and belts for drive and conveyor tech-
nology. The Group has a global network of locations 
with production and distribution as well as pure sales 
companies.  

Forbo Holding Ltd is a public limited company under 
Swiss law, domiciled in Baar, Switzerland. It is listed on 
the SIX Swiss Exchange (FORN).

These financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on March 4, 2024, and released for 
publication on March 5, 2024. This financial report is 
subject to approval by the Ordinary General Meeting 
of April 5, 2024.

2 Accounting principles

The principal accounting policies applied in the prepa-
ration of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Forbo 
 Holding Ltd were prepared in accordance with the 
IFRS  Accounting Standards and in compliance with 
Swiss law. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
Swiss francs. The Swiss franc is both the functional 
 currency and the reporting currency of the company. 
Unless otherwise noted, all sums are stated in millions 
of Swiss francs (CHF m) and are generally rounded to 
one decimal place.

The consolidation was done on the basis of the audited 
financial statements of the subsidiaries prepared 
 according to uniform corporate accounting policies. 
The reporting date for all Group companies is 
 December 31.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared 
in accordance with the principle of historical costs, 
with the exception of:  

 – derivatives measured at fair value
 –  non-monetary balance sheet items of subsidiaries 
in hyperinflationary economies that are adjusted to 
the current price index

 –  pension fund liabilities measured at the net value 
of the discounted defined benefit obligations less 
the fair value of the plan assets

The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments requires management to make discretionary 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that can affect 
the application of accounting methods and reported 
revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments. Actual results may differ from these estimates 
and assumptions. Estimates and the underlying as-
sumptions are being reviewed continually. Revised 
versions of estimates and assumptions are recognized 
prospectively. Information about discretionary judg-
ments as well as assumptions and uncertainty in-
volved in estimates are contained in note 3 ‘Critical 
judgments, estimates and appraisals by management’.

Scope and principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries are companies that are controlled by the 
Group. The Group exercises control over a company if 
it is exposed to variable returns from its involvement 
in the company or possesses rights to the returns and 
is able to influence these returns by means of its dis-
cretionary control over the company. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consoli-
dated financial statements from the point at which 
control begins. 

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase consideration 
of the business combination and the amount of the 
non- controlling interest over the identifiable net 
 assets  assessed at fair value. 

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealized 
gains or losses on transactions between Group com-
panies are eliminated. 

Notes –  
accounting principles
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Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies
The individual companies prepare their financial 
 statements in their functional currency. The functional 
currency is the currency of the primary economic 
 environment in which the company operates and 
generally corresponds to the local currency. Foreign 
currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of transaction. Foreign exchange gains and 
 losses resulting from the settlement of such trans-
actions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognized in the income state-
ment. 

Foreign operations
The annual financial statements of foreign Group com-
panies stated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Swiss francs as follows: assets and liabilities at year-end 
exchange rates; the income statement and cash flow 
statement at average exchange rates for the year. Cur-
rency translation differences arising from the translation 
of items at average and year-end exchange rates and 
from equity capital transactions are recognized in 
 other comprehensive income and taken to profit or 
loss for the period (reclassified) in the event the  foreign 
Group company is disposed of.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from 
the translation of net investments in foreign business 
operations are recognized in other comprehensive 
 income.  

Changes in the scope of consolidation
In the prior-year period, the two sales companies Tema 
S.r.l. and Realbelt GmbH in the Movement Systems 
segment were absorbed by their respective parent 
companies Forbo Siegling Italia S.p.A. and Forbo 
 Siegling GmbH for the purpose of simplifying the 
Group structure.

The subsidiaries included in the group of consolidated 
companies are listed under ‘Group companies’ (from 
page 162 of this report).
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Income statement (average 
exchange rates for the year)

Balance sheet 
(year-end exchange rates)

2023 2022 2023 2022

Exchange rates
Euro zone EUR 1 0.9715 1.0040 0.9335 0.9841

USA USD 1 0.8980 0.9543 0.8433 0.9234

Great Britain GBP 1 1.1170 1.1772 1.0749 1.1123

Japan JPY 100 0.6387 0.7267 0.5961 0.6960

China CNY 100 12.7406 14.1860 11.9611 13.2600

Sweden SEK 100 8.4641 9.4366 8.4011 8.8186

Type of product 

or service  

 
Type and time of the fulfillment of performance obligation, significant terms of payment

Flooring Systems The revenue is generated predominantly by the sale of goods that are recognized at a point in time, in accordance with the 

agreed terms. The sale of goods is based on fixed prices. In some cases, goal-oriented, variable volume rebates are 

granted. Volume rebates are deducted from sales in the same amount as expected cash outflows. The payment terms are 

in line with general business terms and conditions, with payment due dates ranging from 30 to 60 days.

The warranty periods granted for goods are in line with the general business terms and conditions in the sector; in some 

cases, these may be longer than defined by law. Provisions are made on the basis of the expected cash outflow for known 

warranty claims and those expected in future.

Movement Systems The type and time of the fulfillment of the performance obligation and the terms of payment are identical with those for 

Flooring Systems. 

Movement Systems, in addition, provides services in connection with the servicing, maintenance, and seamless connection 

of belting products. These services are recognized separately as revenue at the time the service is provided.

The following exchange rates against the Swiss franc 
have been applied for the most important currencies 
concerned: 

Net sales and revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized 
when the control of the goods or services is trans-
ferred to the customer. The revenue is based on the 
contractually agreed transaction price, i.e. the amount 
to which the Group can be expected to be entitled in 
return for the transfer of the goods or services to a 
 customer.
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Property, plant, and equipment
Land is recognized at cost on acquisition. Land is not 
depreciated, but allowances are set aside for impair-
ments that have occurred. All other tangible assets are 
accounted at cost on acquisition less depreciation and 
impairments incurred with the exception of assets in 
construction which are not written down during the 
project phase but only when they are ready for their 
intended use and have been reclassified to the rele-
vant category of tangible asset. 

Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-
line method over the following estimated useful life:

Land and buildings
Land  no depreciation

Buildings 20 to 40 years

Modifications and installations 5 to 10 years or   
 duration of rental contract

Machinery and equipment
Machines, equipment and tools 5 to 10 years

Vehicles and other property, plant, and equipment
Vehicles 5 years

IT hardware 3 to 5 years

Other operational assets 3 to 10 years

Assets under construction
Assets under construction no depreciation

If there are signs of an impairment, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined. If the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable value, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced accordingly and the 
 difference charged to the income statement. 

Leasing
The Group is the lessee for various items of property, 
plant, and equipment; buildings and vehicles consti-
tute the vast majority of leasing agreements.

Exceptions are made for short-term leases and for 
 leases for low-value assets used by the company. 
These lease payments are recognized as expenditure 
over the lease term.

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets under 
 ‘Property, plant, and equipment’ and leasing liabilities 
under ‘Financial liabilities’ in the balance sheet. Further 
information is disclosed in note 21 ‘Leasing’.

Earnings per share
The number of shares used for calculating earnings per 
share is determined on the basis of the weighted aver-
age number of the shares issued less the weighted 
 average number of treasury shares held. To calculate 
diluted earnings per share, an adjusted number of 
shares is determined from the total number of shares 
used to calculate earnings per share plus the potential-
ly dilutive effects of shares from employee incentive 
plans. To take account of the dilutive effect of employee 
incentive plans, the number of shares is determined 
that could have been purchased at the market price on 
the basis of the cumulative difference between the 
market price and the strike price of the future subscrip-
tion rights. The market price used for this purpose 
 corresponds to the average price of the shares in the 
business year under review. 

Income taxes
Income taxes constitute the total of current and 
 deferred income taxes.

Current income taxes are determined on the basis of 
taxable profits and the applicable tax laws of the indi-
vidual countries. They are recognized as an expense in 
the accounting period in which the profits are made. 

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to be enacted in the 
period in which the asset will be realized or the liability 
will be settled. Current and deferred tax assets and 
 liabilities are offset when they arise from the same tax 
reporting group, relate to the same tax authority, the 
legal right to offset exists, and they are intended to be 
settled net or realized simultaneously.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognized as 
an income tax benefit or expense in the income state-
ment, with the exception of items posted directly to 
equity or recognized in other comprehensive income. 
In this case, the corresponding tax effect is also to be 
recognized directly in shareholders’ equity or in other 
comprehensive income.
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Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables are recognized when they occur. All 
other financial instruments are recognized when the 
Group becomes a contracting party. 

Financial assets (with the exception of trade receiv-
ables with no essential financing component) and 
fi nancial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. 
Transaction costs, which are directly attributable to 
 acquisition or issuance, are added in addition for finan-
cial instruments that are not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Trade receivables with no essen-
tial financing components are initially recognized at 
the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement 
of financial assets
Financial assets are measured and classified in accor-
dance with the following categories: 

 –  ‘Amortized cost’    
 –  ‘Fair value through profit or loss’ 

Essentially, the financial assets in the Group consist of 
cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables that 
are reported at amortized cost using the effective in-
terest method less valuation allowances for expected 
credit losses. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at 
nominal value. This includes cash on hand, bank ac-
counts, and fixed-term deposits with maturities up to 
three months from the date of acquisition.

Derivatives are valued at their fair value through profit 
or loss. The derivatives used are accounted for on the 
day the trade is conducted. Derivative financial instru-
ments are classified in the balance sheet in ‘Current 
financial liabilities’.  

Intangible assets and goodwill 
The goodwill generated in connection with business 
combinations is measured at the cost of acquisition 
less cumulative impairment losses. 

The acquisition costs of trademarks, licenses, customer 
relationships, and technologies acquired in a business 
combination correspond to the fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (good-
will and trademarks) are not subject to amortization 
but are tested for impairment annually at cash-gener-
ating unit level. This is carried out using a standardized 
method with discounted cash flow for calculating the 
value in use. Cash flow for the first three years is 
 estimated on the basis of the plan approved by man-
agement (detailed planning period). Cash inflows after 
the detailed planning period are extrapolated to the 
value of a going concern by means of recoverable 
earnings. The intangible assets with an indefinite 
 useful life are also subject to impairment testing in the 
form of sensitivity analyses.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group 
and have a finite useful life are carried at acquisition or 
production costs less cumulative amortization and im-
pairments. The amortization of other intangible assets 
with a finite useful life uses the straight-line method; 
the following estimated useful lives are applied:

IT software   3 to 5 years  

Customer relations   5 to 15 years

Technologies up to 30 years
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Shareholders’ equity
Registered shares are classified as share capital at their 
par value. Payments by shareholders above the par 
value are credited to reserves. 

Treasury shares are deducted at their par value from 
share capital. The acquisition costs in excess of par 
 value arising on the acquisition of treasury shares are 
debited to reserves. On the sale of treasury shares, 
gains or losses compared with the par value are 
 credited or debited to reserves. 

Dividends are debited to equity in the period in which 
the resolution on their distribution is adopted.

3 Critical judgments, estimates and 
appraisals by management  

The application of the measurement and accounting 
principles requires that circumstances and estimates 
be assessed, and assumptions be made with respect 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. The 
estimates and the underlying assumptions are based 
on past experience and other factors regarded as 
 relevant, including expectations of future events that 
appear reasonable in the given circumstances. The 
 actual results may, of course, deviate from the esti-
mates and assumptions of management.

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are re-
viewed continuously. Revised estimates are recog-
nized prospectively. The following are the main areas 
in which a significant risk exists in the coming business 
year regarding a significant adjustment of the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities.

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit 
losses on financial instruments that are reported at 
amortized costs. The Group applies a permissible, 
 simplified model of valuation allowances (‘provision 
matrix’) for trade receivables. In this valuation allow-
ance table, expected losses on receivables are deter-
mined on the balance sheet date on the basis of past 
experience of default probability, and of future- 
oriented expectations based on experience with the 
 customers and market conditions. 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default 
if it is unlikely that the borrower can pay his obligation 
to the Group in full without the Group having to  
take recourse to measures such as the realization of 
collateral.

Classification and subsequent measurement 
of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified and measured at 
amortized costs or at fair value through profit or loss. 
The majority of financial liabilities in the Group are 
 liabilities from leasing contracts. These are measured 
at amortized costs using the effective interest method. 
A financial liability is measured at fair value trough the 
income statement if it is a derivative. 

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value. Cost includes direct material and, if 
applicable, other direct costs and related production 
overheads to the extent that they are incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. The net realizable value constitutes the 
 estimated sales price less all estimated costs up to 
completion, as well as the costs of marketing, sales, 
and distribution. 

Inventories are generally measured at average cost. 
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Valuation of pension plan liabilities
Various employee pension plans exist for employees 
of the Group. In the valuation of defined benefit plans, 
actuarial assumptions are made to estimate future de-
velopments. These include assumptions and estimates 
relating to the discount rate, the inflation rate as well 
as assumptions for future wage trends. In their actuar-
ial calculations for determining employee benefit ob-
ligations, the actuaries also use statistical information 
such as mortality tables and staff turnover rates. If 
these parameters change owing to a change in the 
economic situation or market conditions, the subse-
quent results may deviate considerably from the actu-
arial reports and calculations. These deviations may 
have a significant medium-term effect on expenses 
and income from the employee pension schemes and 
on the comprehensive income statement. Further 
 information on this topic can be found in note 18 ‘Em-
ployee benefit obligations’.

Impairment tests  
Along with the regular periodic review of goodwill 
and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, the 
carrying amounts of fixed and intangible assets with a 
finite useful life are also always reviewed if due to 
changed circumstances or other triggering events 
these amounts can possibly no longer be realized. If 
such a situation occurs, the recoverable amount is 
 determined based on expected future revenues. This 
corresponds to either the discounted expected cash 
flows or the expected net sales price. 

Important assumptions in the calculations underlying 
these impairment tests include growth rates, margins, 
estimates and management’s expectations of the fu-
ture development of net working capital and discount 
rates. The actual cash flows may deviate from the 
planned and discounted values. Likewise, the useful 
lives may be shortened, or non-current assets im-
paired in the event of a change in the use of buildings, 
machinery and facilities, change or abandonment of 
locations, or lower-than-expected revenues over the 
medium term. Further information on this topic can 
be found in note 14 ‘Property, plant, and equipment’ 
and note 15 ‘Intangible assets and goodwill’.
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4 Application of new or amended 
accounting standards

As of January 1, 2023, the Group adopted the amend-
ments to IAS1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 ‘Disclosure 
of Accounting Policies’. Although these amendments 
had no effect on the accounting principles them-
selves, they did affect the information on the account-
ing principles disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements. The changes require the dis closure of ‘ma-
terial’ accounting principles, rather than ‘significant’ 
 accounting principles, as previously. Group manage-
ment has reviewed these and updated the informa-
tion given.

The Group has also adopted the amendments to IAS 
12 ‘International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules’. 
These amendments introduce a mandatory tempo-
rary exception to deferred tax accounting for top-up 
tax, effective immediately. However, the retrospective 
application of this exception has no effect on the con-
solidated financial statements as the top-up tax had 
not yet been imposed or was immediately pending to 
be imposed as per December 31, 2022, in any country 
in which the Group is active and thus no related 
 deferred taxes were booked.

The Group also adopted several other more minor 
amendments made by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) to existing standards and inter-
pretations, which came into effect on January 1, 2023. 
The first-time adoption of these revised standards and 
interpretations had no significant impact on the 
 consolidated financial statements presented here.

Accounting standards which had been published by 
the IASB but only come into effect after January 1, 
2024, were not adopted early in the consolidated 
 financial statements. No significant impact on the con-
solidated financial statements presented here is ex-
pected from the first-time adoption of these standards 
and interpretations.

Recognition and measurement of provisions
In the conduct of ordinary business activities, a liability 
of uncertain timing and/or amount may arise. Provi-
sions are determined using available information based 
on reasonably expected cash outflows. Claims against 
Group companies may arise that may not be covered, 
or are covered only in part, by provisions or insurance 
benefits. Further information on this topic can be found 
in note 17 ‘Provisions’.

Income taxes
The Group is obliged to pay income taxes in various 
countries. Certain key assumptions are necessary in 
 order to determine income tax in the relevant coun-
tries. There are business events which have an impact 
on taxation and taxable profit. Hence, the amount of 
the final taxation cannot be determined definitively. 
The measurement of current tax liabilities is subject to 
the interpretation of tax regulations in the relevant 
countries. The adequacy of this interpretation is as-
sessed by the tax authorities in the course of the final 
assessment or tax audits. This may result in material 
changes to income tax expenses. Where the definitive 
taxation of these business events deviates from the 
previous assumptions, this will have an impact on the 
current and deferred taxes in the period in which the 
taxation is definitively determined. Furthermore, 
 determining whether tax losses carried forward can be 
capitalized requires a critical estimate of the probabil-
ity that they can be offset against future profits. This 
assessment is based on planning information. Further 
information on this topic can be found in note 10 
 ‘Income taxes’.
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The Flooring Systems and the Movement Systems 
 divisions are reportable segments. The identification of 
the reportable segments is based on internal manage-
ment reporting to the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors and to the Chief Executive Officer of the Group 
and hence on the financial information used to review 
the performance of the operational units in order to 
reach a decision on the allocation of resources.

The internal management reporting is based on the 
same accounting principles as the external reporting. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer assess the performance of the re-
portable segments based on their operating result 
(EBIT). The financial result is not allocated to the 
 segments since it is Corporate Treasury that mainly 
 exercises central control over it. Inter-segment sales 
are transacted at arm’s length. The segments apply the 
same accounting principles as the Group. Sales to 
third parties, as they are reported to the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer, 
are identical with the sales reported in the income 
statement.

5 Segment reporting

The Group operates globally in the segments Flooring 
Systems and Movement Systems. The divisions corre-
spond to the internal management structure and are 
run separately because the products they manu-
facture, distribute, and sell differ fundamentally in 
terms of production, distribution, and marketing. 

In the Flooring Systems division, the Group develops, 
produces, and sells linoleum, vinyl floorings, entrance 
flooring systems, carpet tiles, needle felt floor cover-
ings, Flotex, the washable textile flooring, and building 
and construction adhesives as well as various accessory 
products required for the laying, processing, cleaning, 
and care of flooring. In the Movement Systems 
 division, the Group develops, produces, and sells 
high-quality conveyor and processing belts, as well as 
plastic modular belts, and drive, timing and flat belts 
made of synthetic materials. Corporate includes the 
costs of the Group headquarters and certain items of 
income and expenses that are not directly attributable 
to a specific segment.

Notes

2023
 

CHF m
Flooring 
Systems

Movement 
Systems

Corporate/ 
Elimination

 
Total

Total net sales 796.5 378.9 – 0.2 1,175.2

Inter-segment net sales 0.0 – 0.2 0.2 0.0

Net sales to third parties 796.5 378.7 0.0 1,175.2

Operating profit (EBIT) 94.9 44.3 – 9.3 129.9

EBITDA1) 123.2 65.5 – 8.8 179.9

Operating assets 457.8 311.8 31.9 801.5

Capital expenditure2) 26.8 17.8 0.7 45.3

Number of employees (December 31) 2,741 2,408 41 5,190

Segment information on the reportable segments for 
the reporting year:

1) Operating profit before depreciation and amortization
2) Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (excluding leasing)
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The one-time charges of CHF 20.0 million recorded in 
the prior year for impairments in Russia, above all on 
goodwill and property, plant and equipment, costs for 
structural adjustments, and for other costs, including 
those from provisions for various legal claims, were 
mainly incurred by Flooring Systems.

2023 2022

CHF m

Total segment result (EBIT) 129.9 132.6
Financial result 1.9 – 1.6

Group profit before taxes 131.8 131.0

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

CHF m

Total operating assets 801.5 879.2
Non-operating assets 99.9 81.0

Total assets 901.4 960.2

Operating assets include ‘Trade receivables’, ‘Other re-
ceivables’, ‘Accrued income and deferred expenses’, 
 ‘Inventories’, ‘Property, plant, and equipment’, ‘Intangi-
ble assets and goodwill’ and ‘Non-current financial 
 assets’. Non-operating assets include ‘Cash and cash 
equivalents’ and ‘Deferred tax assets’.

Reconciliation of segment information to the income 
statement and balance sheet:

Segment information on the reportable segments for 
the prior year:

2022
 

CHF m
Flooring 
Systems

Movement 
Systems

Corporate/ 
Elimination

 
Total

Total net sales 878.0 415.3 – 0.1 1,293.2

Inter-segment net sales 0.0 – 0.1 0.1 0.0

Net sales to third parties 878.0 415.2 0.0 1,293.2

Operating profit (EBIT) 88.4 54.0 – 9.8 132.6

EBITDA1) 127.3 75.4 – 9.3 193.4

Operating assets 517.7 337.4 24.1 879.2

Capital expenditure2) 17.9 13.0 0.0 30.9

Number of employees (December 31) 2,890 2,460 40 5,390

1) Operating profit before depreciation and amortization
2) Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (excluding leasing)
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 31.12.2023 
Operating assets

31.12.2022 
Operating assets

CHF m

Switzerland (domicile) 39.5 35.4

Germany 89.1 97.2

France 67.2 73.4

Benelux 193.2 221.8

Scandinavia 33.6 38.5

Great Britain and Ireland 80.0 89.3

Other countries Europe 53.3 49.8

Europe 555.9 605.4
USA 110.1 124.7

Other countries Americas 23.5 28.7

Americas 133.6 153.4
Asia/Pacific and Africa 112.0 120.4
Total operating assets 801.5 879.2

Net sales to third parties by destination were generated 
in the following regions:

 2023 
Third-party sales

2022 
Third-party sales

CHF m

Switzerland (domicile) 28.6 31.1

Germany 137.9 154.2

France 130.1 155.0

Benelux 118.1 122.5

Scandinavia 83.3 96.0

Great Britain and Ireland 75.6 79.7

Other countries Europe 179.9 185.6

Europe 753.5 824.1
USA 190.7 228.8

Other countries Americas 54.7 54.2

Americas 245.4 283.0
Asia/Pacific and Africa 176.3 186.1
Total net sales to third parties 1,175.2 1,293.2

In the period under review, sales to no single customer 
exceeded 10% of total Group sales. 

The following table shows revenue broken down by 
geographic region and by the two divisions that are 
identical with the reportable segments.

 Flooring Systems Movement Systems

CHF m

2023 
Third-party 

sales

2022 
Third-party 

sales

2023 
Third-party 

sales

2022 
Third-party 

sales

Regions

Europe 598.0 657.5 155.5 166.6

Americas 122.3 140.6 123.1 142.4

Asia/Pacific and Africa 76.2 79.9 100.1 106.2

Total net sales to third parties 796.5 878.0 378.7 415.2

Operating assets are distributed over the following 
 regions:
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9 Personnel expenses

2023 2022

Personnel expenses
CHF m

Salaries and wages 275.7 306.9

Social security contributions 61.1 64.1

Employee benefit expenses for defined contribution plans 12.3 12.5

Employee benefit expenses for defined benefit plans 2.2 5.1

Total personnel expenses 351.3 388.6

Personnel expense decreased year-on-year due to  
lower average headcount and due to lower exchange 
rates. 

Salaries and wages include share-based payment 
 expenses of CHF 4.0 million (2022: CHF 4.7 million). A 
bonus program is available for around 150 managers, 
which is linked to achieving financial targets set for 
the Group, the divisions, and individual objectives 
(see also note 19 ‘Employee participation plan’). 

As at December 31, 2023, the headcount was 5,190 
(2022: 5,390). The weighted average headcount over 
the year was 5,357 (2022: 5,637).

7 Other operating expenses

‘Other operating expenses’ comprise expenses of dif-
ferent kinds in connection with legal costs, allowances 
on inventories, taxes on capital, levies based on local 
legislation, and allowances for doubtful trade receiv-
ables. In the prior year ‘Other operating expenses’ also 
included impairments on goodwill and property, 
plant, and equipment in Russia.

8 Other operating income

‘Other operating income’ comprises a range of in-
come, such as the release of provisions for site reme-
diation and the release of provisions for personnel 
costs (in the prior year from release of provisions for 
legal proceedings), income from associated compa-
nies, and income from sales of material for recycling 
purposes.

6 Development costs

‘Development costs’ mainly comprise costs for product 
development. 

Costs for manufacturing trials, recipe optimization, and 
new collections are not reported within ‘Development 
costs’.

As in the previous year, no development costs were 
capitalized during the year under review.
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10 Income taxes

2023 2022

Income taxes
CHF m

Current income taxes 26.9 33.2

Deferred income taxes 2.6 – 3.6

Total income taxes 29.5 29.6

Analysis of tax expense
The following reconciliation explains the difference 
between the expected and the effective income tax 
expense:

2023 2022

CHF m

Group profit before taxes 131.8 131.0

Tax expense at the applicable tax rate – 30.3 – 31.0
Applicable tax rate in % 23.0 23.7

Tax effects of:

Non-tax-deductible expenses – 2.1 – 1.0

Tax-exempt income 0.3 0.4

Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 0.0 0.1

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 1.1 0.8

Previous-year taxes and other positions 1.5 1.1

Effective income tax expenses – 29.5 – 29.6
Effective income tax rate in % 22.4 22.6

Since the Group operates in various countries with dif-
ferent tax laws and rates, the expected and effective 
income tax expense depends every year on the origin 
of the profits or losses in each country. The expected 
income tax expense is the sum of the expected indi-

vidual tax expense of all subsidiaries. The expected in-
dividual income tax expense in a country is calculated 
by multiplying the individual profit/loss by the tax rate 
applicable in the country concerned. 
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Capitalized and non-capitalized tax loss carry-forwards 
all expire in more than five years.: 

2023 2022

CHF m

Non capitalized 30.0 20.7

Capitalized 20.2 32.8

Total tax loss carry-forwards 50.2 53.5

The following amounts are shown in the balance sheet:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

CHF m

Deferred tax assets 30.7 34.3

Deferred tax liabilities – 7.4 – 8.2

Deferred taxes, net 23.3 26.1



141FORBO ANNUAL REPORT 2023 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred tax assets
 

 

CHF m Inventories

Property,  
plant, and  

equipment Provisions
Loss carry- 

forwards

Employee 
benefit ob-

ligations Other Total

January 1, 2022 7.2 2.2 8.5 12.3 13.5 6.2 49.9
Changes recognized in income statement 1.0 2.3 2.4 – 1.1 0.0 – 0.1 4.5

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income – 5.7 – 5.7

Translation differences 0.1 0.0 – 0.5 – 1.0 – 0.8 0.1 – 2.1

As at December 31, 2022 8.3 4.5 10.4 10.2 7.0 6.2 46.6
Changes recognized in income statement – 2.0 1.7 0.5 – 3.6 – 0.5 0.7 – 3.2

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income 1.3 1.3

Translation differences – 0.8 – 0.8 – 0.2 – 0.5 – 0.1 – 0.2 – 2.6

As at December 31, 2023 5.5 5.4 10.7 6.1 7.7 6.7 42.1
Netting with deferred tax liabilities – 11.4

As at December 31, 2023 5.5 5.4 10.7 6.1 7.7 6.7 30.7

Deferred tax liabilities
 

 

CHF m Inventories

Property,  
plant, and  

equipment Provisions
Intangible 

assets

Employee 
benefit ob-

ligations Other Total

January 1, 2022 3.4 6.8 0.1 8.7 0.0 3.3 22.3
Changes recognized in income statement 0.1 – 0.1 – 1.4 2.3 0.9

Translation differences – 0.3 – 0.7 0.0 – 1.3 – 0.4 – 2.7

As at December 31, 2022 3.2 6.0 0.1 6.0 0.0 5.2 20.5
Changes recognized in income statement – 0.3 0.5 – 1.7 0.9 – 0.6

Translation differences – 0.1 – 0.3 0.0 – 0.5 – 0.2 – 1.1

As at December 31, 2023 2.8 6.2 0.1 3.8 0.0 5.9 18.8
Netting with deferred tax assets – 11.4

As at December 31, 2023 2.8 6.2 0.1 3.8 0.0 5.9 7.4

Decrease in net deferred tax assets 2022 – 1.5

Decrease in net deferred tax assets 2023 – 2.8

Should there be a distribution, withholding and other 
taxes might be incurred, which, upon decision, may be 
provided for accordingly.
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax credits, and tax 
charges from deferred taxes:

As at December 31, 2023, no deferred income tax 
 liabilities on undistributed profits from consolidated 
companies have been recognized, since this income  
is deemed to have been reinvested for an indefinite 
 period.
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exception for deferred tax accounting for global top-
up tax and will record it as current income tax at the 
time it is incurred. Had the top-up tax been applied in 
2023, the Group’s effective tax rate would have risen 
by less than one percentage point.

2023 2022

Group profit for the year in CHF million 102.3 101.4

Weighted average number of shares 1,409,775 1,413,578

Amount of shares adjusted for long-term incentive plans (LTI) 0 22

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 1,409,775 1,413,600

Basic earnings per share in CHF 72.55 71.76

Diluted earnings per share in CHF 72.55 71.76

Global minimum taxation
The Group anticipates that it will be subject to the 
 top-up tax in relation to its business activities in Swit-
zerland. However, as the new law was only effective as 
per January 1, 2024, it has no consequences for the 
year under review. The Group applies the mandatory 

2023 2022

Before tax Tax expense After tax Before tax Tax expense After taxCHF m

Actuarial losses (–)/gains on employee benefit obligations – 12.4 1.3 – 11.1 24.9 – 5.7 19.2

Translation differences – 47.3 – 47.3 – 36.3 – 36.3

Other comprehensive income – 59.7 1.3 – 58.4 – 11.4 – 5.7 – 17.1

Income tax expense and income recognized in the 
 other comprehensive income statement:

11 Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated as follows:
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12 Trade receivables 

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Trade receivables
CHF m

Accounts receivable 133.4 146.8

Notes receivable 10.2 13.3

Allowance – 4.7 – 4.9

Total trade receivables 138.9 155.2

Information with regards to the Group’s credit and 
market risks and allowances for doubtful trade receiv-

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Inventories
CHF m

Raw materials and supplies 60.7 74.3

Work in progress 86.0 93.7

Finished goods 146.4 182.0

Allowance – 28.9 – 33.8

Total inventories 264.2 316.2

As a result of optimizations in production and sales 
planning, inventories could be reduced significantly 
compared to the prior year.

Cost of materials recognized in the reporting year 
came to CHF 433.7 million (2022: CHF 492.4 million). 
 

13 Inventories

ables are found in note 23 ‘Risk assessment and finan-
cial risk management’.
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Cost on acquisition 

Land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Vehicles and 
other  

property, 
plant, and 

equipment

Assets  
under 

construction

Total  
property, 

plant, and 
equipmentCHF m

As at January 1, 2022 187.6 732.0 135.9 24.5 1,080.0
Additions 8.5 9.8 7.6 18.3 44.2

Disposals – 1.9 – 10.3 – 8.0 – 20.2

Transfers 1.0 24.2 2.0 – 27.2

Translation differences – 18.1 – 40.0 – 6.8 – 1.1 – 66.0

As at December 31, 2022 177.1 715.7 130.7 14.5 1,038.0
Additions 13.5 6.9 7.8 35.4 63.6

Disposals – 4.0 – 27.9 – 22.1 – 54.0

Transfers 1.4 11.3 1.5 – 14.9 – 0.7

Translation differences – 21.8 – 38.6 – 6.7 – 2.2 – 69.3

As at December 31, 2023 166.2 667.4 111.2 32.8 977.6

Accumulated depreciation and impairments 

Land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Vehicles and 
other  

property, 
plant, and 

equipment

Assets  
under 

construction

Total  
property, 

plant, and 
equipmentCHF m

As at January 1, 2022 51.5 614.1 119.6 0.0 785.2
Depreciation 15.9 26.4 8.9 51.2

Impairments 2.2 2.0 0.3 4.5

Disposals – 1.8 – 10.2 – 8.0 – 20.0

Translation differences – 11.0 – 33.6 – 5.9 – 50.5

As at December 31, 2022 56.8 598.7 114.9 0.0 770.4
Depreciation 16.3 22.8 7.3 46.4

Disposals – 3.9 – 27.9 – 22.1 – 53.9

Translation differences – 14.2 – 32.1 – 5.6 – 51.9

As at December 31, 2023 55.0 561.5 94.5 0.0 711.0

Net carrying amount
As at December 31, 2022 120.3 117.0 15.8 14.5 267.6
As at December 31, 2023 111.2 105.9 16.7 32.8 266.6

14 Property, plant, and equipment 

As at December 31, 2023, there was no property, plant 
and equipment for which interest on borrowed capital 
was capitalized during the preparation phase. 

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had outstanding 
purchase orders for capital goods amounting to CHF 
4.6 million (2022: CHF 5.3 million). 

In the prior-year period, allowances of CHF 4.5 million 
were set aside for impairments relating to property, 
plant, and equipment in Russia. 

Included under property, plant, and equipment are 
right-of-use assets amounting to CHF 41.7 million 
(2022: CHF 42.5 million). Further information can be 
found in note 21 ‘Leasing’.

Maintenance and repair costs amounted to CHF 23.6 
million (2022: CHF 24.8 million). The depreciation 
 expense of CHF 46.4 million (2022: CHF 51.2 million) is 
included in the items ‘Cost of goods sold’, ‘Develop-
ment costs’, ‘Marketing and distribution costs’, and 
 ‘Administrative costs’.
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ily of the customer relations and technologies  acquired 
as part of the acquisition of Bonar Floors.

15 Intangible assets and goodwill

Cost on acquisition
Goodwill Trademarks

Other  
intangible assets TotalCHF m

As at January 1, 2022 81.4 32.6 79.5 193.5
Additions 0.2 0.2

Disposals – 0.6 – 0.6

Translation differences – 3.2 – 0.7 – 6.3 – 10.2

As at December 31, 2022 78.2 31.9 72.8 182.9
Additions 0.3 0.3

Disposals – 0.5 – 0.5

Transfers 0.7 0.7

Translation differences – 3.3 – 0.3 – 2.7 – 6.3

As at December 31, 2023 74.9 31.6 70.6 177.1

Accumulated amortization and impairments
Goodwill Trademarks

Other  
intangible assets TotalCHF m

As at January 1, 2022 8.5 26.3 63.1 97.9
Amortization 4.0 4.0

Impairments 1.1 1.1

Disposals – 0.6 – 0.6

Translation differences – 0.4 – 0.0 – 4.0 – 4.4

As at December 31, 2022 9.2 26.3 62.5 98.0
Amortization 3.7 3.7

Disposals – 0.4 – 0.4

Translation differences – 1.0 – 0.1 – 2.1 – 3.2

As at December 31, 2023 8.2 26.2 63.7 98.1

Net carrying amount
As at December 31, 2022 69.0 5.6 10.3 84.9
As at December 31, 2023 66.7 5.4 6.9 79.0

The position ‘Trademarks’ consists of the trademarks 
acquired in connection with the acquisition of Bonar 
Floors in 2008. ‘Other intangible assets’ consists primar-

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Flooring Systems 63.3 65.3

Movement Systems 3.4 3.7

Total Goodwill 66.7 69.0

Goodwill is distributed among the following groups of 
cash-generating units: 
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The annual impairment test of the goodwill resulted in 
the reporting year in a value in use that was greater 
than the carrying amount. In the calculation of the 
 value in use for the detailed planning period, constant 
EBITDA margins are assumed, which are around 17% 
for  Flooring Systems (2022: 19%) and around 19% for 
Movement Systems (2022: 19%). The growth rate upon 
which the final value is based corresponds to the 
 expected level of inflation (1%). The discount rate cor-
responds to the total weighted cost of capital before 
taxes and is 9.6% (previous year: 9.4%).

In the prior year, goodwill of CHF 1.1 million arising 
from the acquisition of the Russian vinyl plant for the 
production of vinyl flooring was written off in full 
 because of the negative business outlook resulting 
from the political and economic situation in Russia. 

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Accrued expenses and deferred income
CHF m

Accrued expenses for compensation and employee benefits 35.3 38.6

Other accrued expenses 37.8 37.6

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 73.1 76.2

16 Accrued expenses and  
deferred income

Accrued expenses for compensation and employee 
benefits mainly comprise overtime accruals and 
 commissions. Other accrued expenses include accrued 

volume rebates, commissions, premiums, interest and 
goods and services received but not yet invoiced.

17 Provisions

Provisions 

Warranty 
provisions

Environmental 
provisions

Provisions  
for legal  

claims
Personnel 
provisions

Other 
provisions TotalCHF m

As at January 1, 2023 3.8 3.5 37.7 19.6 0.9 65.5
Additions 2.0 6.3 0.8 9.1

Used during the year – 0.6 – 0.6 – 9.3 – 0.5 – 11.0

Released during the year – 0.1 – 3.5 – 1.0 – 6.0 – 0.2 – 10.8

Translation differences – 0.2 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.4

As at December 31, 2023 4.9 0.0 42.3 5.0 0.2 52.4

Of which current provisions 2.7 0.7 4.0 0.1 7.5

Of which non-current provisions 2.2 41.6 1.0 0.1 44.9
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Pension plan in Switzerland
The Group pays contributions to an independent 
 pension fund as part of the occupational pension pro-
vision (known in Switzerland as the ‘second pillar’). As 
a minimum benefit, this independent pension fund 
must provide the beneficiary with an old-age pension 
at the time of retirement. This pension is paid out of 
the retirement savings capital at the start of the 
 pension. The Group meets these liabilities through 
agreements with pension funds that cover the  pension 
liabilities in full. 

The pension liabilities of the Swiss Group companies 
account for about 25% of the Group’s entire pension 
liabilities. 96% of the liabilities are to employees and 
4% to beneficiaries.

The Swiss pension system includes guarantees that 
expose the company to the risk that it may have to 
provide additional financing, for instance, if the pen-
sion fund is unable to meet its obligations or decides 
to end the insurance relationship. The pension fund 
guarantees a minimum return and is responsible for 
the payment of a pension for life once the insurance 
benefits fall due. As a result of these guarantees, Swiss 
pension plans are treated as defined benefit plans un-
der IAS 19 revised, even though they contain essential 
elements of defined contribution plans. 

The company cannot participate in any surplus of the 
pension plan. According to Swiss pension law (BVG), 
all surpluses belong to the pension plan and hence to 
its members. 

Warranty provisions are linked to product sales and are 
based on past experience. The provisions for legal 
claims relate mainly to liability claims. Personnel pro-
visions comprise possible obligations arising from 
 employment contracts and structural measures.  Most 
of the anticipated cash outflow for the non-current 
provisions is expected in the next two to five years. 

18 Employee benefit obligations

The Group has established several pension plans on 
the basis of the specific requirements of the countries 
in which it operates. The Group maintains both, 
 defined contribution and defined benefit plans that 
insure employees against the risks of death and in-
validity and provide old-age pensions.

The liabilities and assets under the main defined 
 benefit plans are assessed annually by independent 
actuaries using the ‘projected unit credit method’.

Pension plans in the United Kingdom
The Group has two defined benefit pension plans in 
the United Kingdom. The main one is the Forbo Super-
annuation Fund (FSF), which accounts for about 52% 
of the Group’s total pension liabilities. The FSF is a 
 pension plan whose benefits are based on the final 
salary and which pays out a guaranteed pension for 
life to its members. The composition of the pension 
liabilities is as follows: 2% to active employees, 33% to 
deferred members and 65% to current beneficiaries.

The FSF operates under trust law and is managed and 
administered by the trustees on behalf of the mem-
bers in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed 
and Rules and relevant legislation. The FSF’s assets are 
held by the trust. Responsibility for governance of the 
FSF – including investment decisions and contribution 
schedules – lies with the trustees. The board of  trustees 
must be composed of representatives of the company 
and plan participants in accordance with the FSF’s 
 regulations and British pension law. 

The pension plan follows an investment strategy that 
is geared to the structure of the pension liabilities 
 (‘liability-driven investment’ approach). 

The use of any ultimate surplus is not subject to any 
restrictions under the FSF’s articles of incorporation 
and can be used freely by the Group. These surpluses 
are therefore recognized in the balance sheet as assets 
in accordance with IAS 19 revised.

The FSF is closed to new entrants for years. Employees 
in the United Kingdom who meet certain criteria are 
offered a defined contribution plan.
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The latest actuarial valuations of the present values of 
defined benefit liabilities and of service costs were 
performed as at December 31, 2023, by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The 
fair value of the plan assets was determined as at 
 December 31, 2023, based on the information avail-
able when the annual financial statements were 
 prepared. The weighted average duration of the pen-
sion plans (‘plan duration’) is 10.4 years for the United 
Kingdom, 15.6 years for Switzerland, and 12.5 years for 
the other countries.

The principal assumptions underlying the actuarial 
calculations are summarized as follows.

 

In 2023, the pension fund announced a change to the 
plan rules according to which a comprehensive con-
version rate will be applied from January 1, 2025. This 
adjustment to the plan resulted in a one-off profit of 
CHF 2.4 million, which was posted in the income state-
ment.

Other pension plans
Other notable defined benefit plans exist in France, 
Germany, Japan, Sweden, and the USA. In the Nether-
lands, Forbo has also offered an early retirement plan 
since 2021. Access to this plan is available only up to 
 December 31, 2025. The commitment from this plan 
increased in 2023 due to revisions to the actuarial 
 assumptions. This led to a one-off charge of CHF 2.4 
million, which was recorded in the Comprehensive 
 Income Statement.

2023 2022

Pension costs 

Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

Service cost – 0.9 0.5 1.5 1.1 2.0 0.5 2.0 4.5

Interest costs 1.1 6.2 1.3 8.6 0.2 3.6 0.7 4.5

Interest income on plan assets – 1.0 – 6.2 – 0.3 – 7.5 – 0.1 – 3.6 – 0.2 – 3.9

Total pension costs – 0.8 0.5 2.5 2.2 2.1 0.5 2.5 5.1

2023 2022

Actuarial assumptions 

Switzer-
land UK Other Weighted

Switzer-
land UK Other Weighted

Discount rate (in %) 1.3 4.5 3.1 3.5 2.2 4.8 3.4 4.0

Future increases in salaries (in %) 1.9 3.8 2.9 2.3 1.9 4.0 2.9 2.4

Inflation rate (in %) 1.3 3.1 2.2 2.6 1.3 3.3 2.2 2.8

Life expectancy at age of 65 (in years)

Year of birth 1958

Men 22 21 21 21 22 21 21 21

Women 24 23 24 24 24 24 24 24

Year of birth 1973

Men 23 21 23 22 23 22 22 22

Women 25 24 26 25 25 25 25 25

The pension costs for defined benefit plans recog-
nized in the consolidated income statement can be 
summarized as follows:
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2023 2022

Benefit obligations 

Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 50.7 132.1 41.3 224.1 62.6 217.6 56.5 336.7
Service cost – 0.9 0.5 1.5 1.1 2.0 0.5 2.0 4.5

Employee contributions 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 1.0

Interest costs 1.1 6.2 1.3 8.6 0.2 3.6 0.7 4.5

Benefits paid – 0.5 – 9.4 – 2.5 – 12.4 – 0.6 – 9.3 – 2.2 – 12.1

Actuarial losses/gains (–) 5.9 0.2 3.3 9.4 – 14.5 – 62.6 – 12.1 – 89.2

Translation differences – 4.4 – 1.6 – 6.0 – 17.7 – 3.6 – 21.3

As at December 31 57.3 125.2 43.3 225.8 50.7 132.1 41.3 224.1

Changes in pension liabilities under the defined ben-
efit plans:

Changes in plan assets of the defined benefit plans at 
fair value:

2023 2022

Plan assets 

Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 44.2 133.8 5.1 183.1 46.8 215.9 5.6 268.3
Interest income on plan assets 1.0 6.2 0.3 7.5 0.1 3.6 0.2 3.9

Employer contributions 1.9 0.3 2.5 4.7 1.7 0.3 2.1 4.1

Employee contributions 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 1.0

Return on pension assets (exclud-
ing amounts in interest income)

0.5 – 3.3 – 0.2 – 3.0 – 4.8 – 59.0 – 0.5 – 64.3

Benefits paid – 0.5 – 9.4 – 2.5 – 12.4 – 0.6 – 9.3 – 2.2 – 12.1

Translation differences – 4.3 0.0 – 4.3 – 17.7 – 0.1 – 17.8

As at December 31 48.1 123.3 5.2 176.6 44.2 133.8 5.1 183.1

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the 
 balance sheet under ‘Pension liabilities’ and accounted 
for directly in the Comprehensive Income Statement.

Most of the pension plans are financed in full or in part 
via outsourced funds. Pension liabilities amounting to 
CHF 25.3 million (2022: CHF 28.3 million) out of a total 
of CHF 225.8 million (2022: CHF 224.1 million) are un-
funded. 
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2023 2022

Recognized gains and losses in 
the comprehensive income  
statement 

Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

Actuarial gains in the current 
period:

– 5.9 – 0.2 – 3.3 – 9.4 14.5 62.6 12.1 89.2

Based on adjustment of demo-
graphic assumptions

0.0 2.3 – 0.1 2.2 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3

Based on adjustment of financial 
assumptions

– 5.8 – 2.4 – 1.1 – 9.3 15.2 59.8 12.4 87.4

Experience adjustment – 0.1 – 0.1 – 2.1 – 2.3 – 0.7 2.5 – 0.3 1.5

Return on pension assets (exclud-
ing amounts in interest income)

0.5 – 3.3 – 0.2 – 3.0 – 4.8 – 59.0 – 0.5 – 64.3

Total losses (–)/gains recognized 
in the comprehensive income 
statement before taxes

– 5.4 – 3.5 – 3.5 – 12.4 9.7 3.6 11.6 24.9

Gains and losses of defined benefit pension plans 
 offset in the comprehensive income statement for all 
segments:

Changes in the net liabilities of defined benefit plans 
recognized in the balance sheet:

2023 2022

Net liabilities/ 
Net assets 

Switzerland UK Other Total Switzerland UK Other TotalCHF m

As at January 1 6.5 – 1.7 36.2 41.0 15.8 1.7 50.9 68.4
Net pension cost – 0.8 0.5 2.5 2.2 2.1 0.5 2.5 5.1

Employer contributions – 1.9 – 0.3 – 2.5 – 4.7 – 1.7 – 0.3 – 2.1 – 4.1

Actuarial losses/gains (–) 5.4 3.5 3.5 12.4 – 9.7 – 3.6 – 11.6 – 24.9

Translation differences 0.0 – 0.1 – 1.6 – 1.7 0.0 – 3.5 – 3.5

Net liabilities/ 
Net assets (–) as at December 31

9.2 1.9 38.1 49.2 6.5 – 1.7 36.2 41.0



151FORBO ANNUAL REPORT 2023 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023 2022

Sensitivities +50bp +50bp +50bp

CHF m Switzerland UK Other Switzerland UK Other

Discount rate – 4.2 – 6.1 – 2.4 – 3.6 – 6.6 – 2.4

Increases in salaries 1.2 0.0 1.3 1.1 0.0 1.4

Inflation rate 0.9 2.9 2.3 0.8 2.6 2.2

Interest credits on retirement assets 1.1 1.1

Sensitivities –50bp –50bp –50bp

CHF m Switzerland UK Other Switzerland UK Other

Discount rate 4.6 6.6 2.6 4.0 7.2 2.7

Increases in salaries – 1.2 0.0 – 1.1 – 1.0 0.0 – 1.2

Inflation rate – 0.9 – 3.6 – 2.1 – 0.8 – 3.8 – 2.0

Interest credits on retirement assets – 1.1 – 1.0

Change in the present value of defined benefit 
 liabilities:

The above table describes the effect of the principal 
actuarial assumptions on pension liabilities. The table 
shows the effect of an isolated change of a single 
 parameter, assuming that all other parameters remain 
unchanged. However, sensitivities may differ for indi-
vidual plans. The sensitivity analysis aims to visualize 
the uncertainty in valuating pension liabilities under 

market conditions at the date of valuation. The results 
cannot be extrapolated owing to possible non-linear 
effects in the event of changes to the actuarial as-
sumptions. Moreover, the analysis cannot say anything 
about the likelihood of these changes occurring, nor 
can it present the view of the Group regarding anti-
cipated future changes in pension liabilities. 
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the end of the performance period, the company will 
determine whether the objectives set by the Board of 
Directors at the start of the performance period for the 
performance indicators have been reached. Depend-
ing on the degree to which the objectives are reached, 
a given percentage of the PSUs will be converted into 
shares after the three-year vesting period. Until and 
upon completion of the Long-Term Incentive Plan 
2022 – 2024, converted shares are locked up for a 
 period of three years. As from the Long-Term Incentive 
Plan 2023 – 2025, they are locked up for one year. The 
relevant share price for the allocation of PSUs at the 
start of the performance period is calculated from the 
unweighted average of the closing prices of the Forbo 
share in the first 14 trading days in January of the year 
in which the PSUs were allocated.

Within the framework of the Long-Term Incentive Plan, 
90 shares (2022: 73) were allocated in the year under 
review. The share price at measurement date was  
CHF 1,154.34 (2022: CHF 1,861.14).

Management investment plan
Short-term variable compensation for the Executive 
Board is linked to the Management Investment Plan 
(MIP). According to this plan, at least 50% of the annual 
short-term variable remuneration of Executive Board 
members is paid into the MIP. This part is settled in 
shares. As for the remaining 50% of the annual 
 short-term variable remuneration, the Executive Board 
members may either draw all or part of it in cash or pay 
it into the MIP. They may redefine the allocation of this 
remaining 50% every year. The shares are locked up for 
a period of three years.

The portion of variable remuneration that is settled in 
the form of shares is recognized at fair value and 
 reported as a corresponding increase in equity. The 
shares distributed under the MIP are issued at the un-
weighted average closing price of the Forbo share for 
the first 14 trading days in January of the year in which 
they were issued.

Weighted average asset allocation of the defined 
 benefit plan assets as at December 31: 

2023 2022

%

Shares 14.4 12.4

Bonds 32.8 32.2

Real Estate 21.7 23.4

Other securities 28.9 23.3

Cash and cash equivalents 2.2 8.7

Total plan assets as at December 31 100.0 100.0

‘Shares’, ‘Bonds’, ‘Real Estate’, and ‘Other securities’ were 
quoted investments. The plan assets did not include 
any direct shares or other securities of the Forbo 
Group.

Contributions to defined benefit plans in the following 
year are estimated at at the same level as in the current 
year.

Other non-current benefits
The Group does not finance any other non-current 
benefits. The plans for long-service bonuses and other 
benefits related to years of service are negligible or do 
not qualify as plans for other non-current benefits.

19 Employee participation plan

As of December 31, 2023, there existed the following 
share-based remuneration elements:

Remuneration of the Board of Directors
Since the reporting year, the remuneration of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors is provided in 
locked-up shares. The details and figures for this remu-
neration model are to be found on page 161 of this 
 Financial Report and on pages 106 as well as 112 to 
114 of the Remuneration Report. 

The number of shares with a three-year vesting period 
allocated to the non-exe cutive members of the Board 
of Directors came to 272 in the reporting year (2022: 
261)

Remuneration of the Executive Board
Long-term incentive plan
The Long-Term Incentive Plan consists of a perfor-
mance share unit plan. At the start of the performance 
period, each member of the Executive Board is grant-
ed a given number of future subscription rights in the 
form of performance share units (PSUs). One PSU cor-
responds to a future subscription right to one share. 
The PSUs are subject to a three-year vesting period. At 
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The number of shares of Forbo Holding Ltd issued in 
the year under review under the MIP was 631 (2022: 
682). A further 72 shares (2022: 42) were allocated to 
Executive Board members in the reporting year as part 
of the fixed base salary. 

The amount charged to the income statement in 
 application of IFRS 2 for shares issued to the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Board came to CHF 4.0 
million in the year under review (2022: CHF 4.7 million).

20 Share capital and  
capital management

Share capital 
As at December 31, 2023, the share capital of Forbo 
Holding Ltd stood at CHF 148,500 (2022: CHF 148,500), 
divided into 1,485,000 registered shares with a par 
 value of CHF 0.10 each. Of this amount 21,419 regis-
tered shares without voting or dividend rights contin-
ued to be at the disposal of the Board of Directors. 
 Consequently, 1,463,581 (2022: 1,463,581) registered 
shares were eligible for dividends as at December 31, 
2023.

At the Ordinary General Meeting held on April 1, 2022, 
the shareholders of Forbo Holding Ltd approved the 
capital reduction of 10%. It was completed with the 
entry in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Zug 
on June 16, 2022, and was published in the SHAB on 
June 21, 2022.

31.12.2023 Change 31.12.2022

Number Number Number

Total shares outstanding 1,485,000 0 1,485,000
less:

Treasury shares
Treasury shares – 56,225 – 5,404 – 50,821

Own shares with no dividend rights – 21,419 0 – 21,419

Total treasury shares – 77,644 – 5,404 – 72,240
Total shares issued and outstanding 1,407,356 – 5,404 1,412,760

Capital management  
By capital management, the Group means manage-
ment of consolidated shareholders’ equity as well as 
optimization of the capital employed. The former 

 includes the fully paid-up share capital, the positions 
‘Treasury shares’, ‘Reserves’, and ‘Translation differences’ 
and, as per December 31, 2023, amounted to  
CHF 553.7 million (2022: CHF 550.1 million).  

Change of shares issued and outstanding:
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Right-of-use assets

Land and buildings
Machinery and equip-

ment

Vehicles and other 
property, plant, and 

equipment
Total property, plant, and 

equipmentCHF m

As at January 1, 2022 35.8 1.1 10.4 47.3
Additions 6.9 0.7 5.9 13.5

Derecognition 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Depreciation – 9.4 – 0.6 – 5.9 – 15.9

Translation differences – 1.8 – 0.1 – 0.5 – 2.4

As at December 31, 2022 31.5 1.1 9.9 42.5
Additions 11.8 0.6 6.3 18.7

Derecognition 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Depreciation – 10.4 – 0.7 – 5.6 – 16.7

Translation differences – 2.1 0.0 – 0.7 – 2.8

As at December 31, 2023 30.8 1.0 9.9 41.7

Expenditure and payments for short-term leases came 
to CHF 3.2 million (2022: CHF 4.3 million) and for leases 
of low-value assets to CHF 1.1 million (2022: CHF 1.3 
million). 

The maturity analysis of the leasing liabilities is 
 reported in note 23 ‘Risk assessment and financial risk 
management’.

Interest from lease liabilities amounted to CHF 0.9 mil-
lion in the year under review (2022: CHF 0.7 million). 
The recognized lease liabilities came to CHF 40.0 mil-
lion at year-end (2022: CHF 40.4 million), stated in the 
current and non-current financial liabilities (see note 
22 ‘Financial instruments’). The lease payments for 
 recognized lease liabilities, including interest, came to 
CHF 17.6 million in the reporting year (2022: CHF 19.1 
million). 

21 Leasing

The Group is the lessee for various fixed assets, in 
 particular buildings and vehicles.

The table below shows the right-of-use assets recog-
nized under property, plant, and equipment.
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22 Financial instruments

Classification and fair values
The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair 
values of financial assets and financial liabilities. It does 
not contain any information on the fair value of financial 

assets and financial liabilities if the book value consti-
tutes an appropriate approximate value for their current 
fair value.

Classification of financial instruments Carrying amount

Fair value through  
profit or loss Amortized cost Total

 

CHF m

31.12.2023
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 69.1 69.1

Trade receivables 138.9 138.9

Other receivables 5.9 5.9

Non-current financial assets 1.9 1.9

Financial liabilities:

Derivative financial instruments 0.1 0.1

Current financial liabilities 13.1 13.1

Trade payables 86.9 86.9

Other current liabilities 11.7 11.7

Non-current financial liabilities 26.9 26.9

The item ‘Derivative financial instruments’ contains 
open foreign exchange hedging and swap transac-
tions with a contract value at December 31, 2023, 
 totaling CHF 32.0 million (2022: CHF 80.8 million). The 
foreign exchange rates can be directly observed or 
 determined. The derivatives are therefore assigned to 
hierarchy level 2. 

The items ‘Other receivables’ and ‘Other current liabili-
ties’ are lower than as shown in the balance sheet since 
the direct and indirect tax receivables and liabilities 
they contain do not qualify as financial instruments.

‘Current financial liabilities’ and ‘Non-current financial 
liabilities’ generally correspond to the liabilities from 
leasing. As at December 31, 2023,  ‘Current financial 

liabilities’  included current account liabilities of CHF 0 
million (2022: CHF 4.9 million) and money market 
 financing of CHF 0 (2022: CHF 19.7 million).

The carrying amount of the financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities valued at amortized cost is a reasonable 
approximation for the fair value. The Group did not 
hold any significant financial instruments measured at 
recurring fair value nor was there any regrouping 
 between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.
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Classification of financial instruments Carrying amount

Fair value through  
profit or loss Amortized cost Total

 

CHF m

31.12.2022
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 46.7 46,7

Trade receivables 155.2 155.2

Other receivables 8.1 8.1

Non-current financial assets 1.8 1.8

Financial liabilities:

Derivative financial instruments 0.6 0.6

Current financial liabilities 38.4 38.4

Trade payables 102.5 102.5

Other current liabilities 14.9 14.9

Non-current financial liabilities 26.6 26.6

23 Risk assessment and financial risk 
management

The tasks of the Board of Directors include identifying 
risks, determining suitable measures, and implement-
ing those measures or having them implemented. The 
Board of Directors of Forbo Holding Ltd conducted a 
Group-wide risk assessment in the reporting year. The 
Board of Directors in consultation with the Executive 
Board ensures that risks are dealt with appropriately 
and that they are duly reported. This approach gives 
the Board a complete overview of the key risks and 
measures. This broad overview enables the Group to 
set priorities and allocate the necessary resources. 

The following notes refer exclusively to the risk from 
financial instruments. The Group is exposed to the fol-
lowing risks arising from the use of financial instru-
ments:

 –  Market risk
 –  Liquidity risk
 –  Default risk

Market risk
This refers to the risk that market prices, above all 
 exchange rates and interest rates, will change. In its 
day-to-day operations, the Group uses derivative and 
non-derivative financial instruments to manage the 
risks and opportunities arising from fluctuations in 
 exchange rates and interest rates. The various risks 
 associated with existing assets and liabilities as well as 
planned and anticipated transactions are monitored 
and managed centrally – with due regard to the 
Group’s overall risk exposure. In line with the Group’s 
hedging policy, Corporate Treasury constantly moni-
tors both the risk exposure and the effectiveness of the 
hedging instruments and issues recommendations 
with regard to partial or complete hedging of existing 
risks.
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The Group uses derivative financial instruments solely 
to manage financial risks and not for the purpose of 
speculation. To hedge its currency risks, the Group 
uses mainly currency cash transactions, forward 
 currency contracts, and currency swap transactions. In 
order to manage counterparty risk, derivative financial 
transactions are concluded only with first-class banks. 
The creditworthiness of these institutions is assessed 
on the basis of evaluations by leading rating agencies.

As in the previous year, no hedge accounting was 
used in this context in the year under review.

Foreign exchange risk management
Risks arising from short-term currency exposure creat-
ed by purchases and sales of goods and services 
(transaction risks) are identified, and selective hedging 
strategies are implemented in line with an ongoing 
assessment of exchange rate movements. The Group 
uses foreign exchange forward and option contracts 
with maturities of up to 15 months to hedge against 
transaction risk. 

Furthermore, risks associated with the translation of 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-
cies (translation risks) are managed by establishing an 
appropriate financing policy. 

A realistic assessment of changes in exchange rates for 
the US dollar, the euro, the pound sterling, and the 
Swiss franc has no significant impact on the result and 
the equity of the Group from the valuation of transac-
tions with financial instruments.

Interest rate risks
Interest rate risks arise from changes in the fair value of 
interest-bearing assets and liabilities caused by fluctu-
ations in interest rates. Since these risks may have a 
negative effect on net financial profit and sharehold-
ers’ equity, the Group uses derivatives to manage them 
on a case-by-case basis. A realistic assessment of 
changes in interest rates for the US dollar, the euro, the 
pound sterling, and the Swiss franc has no significant 
impact on the result and the equity of the Group from 
the valuation of transactions with financial instru-
ments.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may possibly be 
unable to meet contractually agreed financial obliga-
tions that are settled by delivering cash or other finan-
cial assets. Group companies need sufficient cash in 
order to meet their commitments. Corporate Treasury 
is responsible for managing liquidity. The share of the 
aggregate cash and cash equivalents managed by 
Corporate Treasury was around 50% on December 31, 
2023. At present, the Group regards a cash level of 
roughly CHF 60 million as sufficient to meet its 
 payment obligations at all times.
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represent nominal payment outflows. Inflows and 
outflows of funds from derivative financial instru-
ments are shown separately.

The maturity structure of the existing financial liabili-
ties is shown in the following table. These liabilities 
correspond to contractually agreed maturities and 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default 
if it is unlikely that the borrower can pay his obligation 
to the Group in full without the Group having to  
take recourse to measures such as the realization of 
 collateral.

Cash and cash equivalents
With regard to counterparty risk exposure to banks, 
Group-wide directives stipulate that financial invest-
ments and other financial transactions are to be made 
only with first-class banks. Given the credit ratings of 
these counterparties, the Group does not anticipate 
any defaults.

Default risk
Default risk is the risk of financial losses in the event 
that a customer or the counterparty in a financial 
 instrument fails to meet his or its obligations. The risk 
consists mainly of trade receivables and bank ac-
counts or short-term deposits with banks. The maxi-
mum amount of the default risk is the book value of 
the financial assets.

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit 
losses on financial instruments that are reported at 
amortized costs. It assesses at the end of each report-
ing period whether there is an objective basis for 
 further impairment of a financial asset and whether 
the allowances made are still appropriate.

As at December 31, 2023

 

 

CHF m
Total Cash 

outflow

Remaining term  
to maturity 

up to 
1 year 

Remaining term  
to maturity  
1 – 2 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  
2 – 5 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  

over 5 years

Interest-free liabilities 98.6 98.6

Liabilities from leasing 44.3 14.6 11.9 13.2 4.6

Cash outflow from financial derivatives 0.1 0.1

As at December 31, 2022

 

 

CHF m
Total Cash 

outflow

Remaining term  
to maturity 

up to 
1 year 

Remaining term  
to maturity  
1 – 2 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  
2 – 5 years

Remaining term  
to maturity  

over 5 years

Interest-free liabilities 117.4 117.4

Liabilities from leasing 42.5 14.5 11.4 10.8 5.8

Liabilities from money market financing 19.7 19.7

Current account liabilities 4.9 4.9

Cash outflow from financial derivatives 0.6 0.6
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31.12.2023 31.12.2022

CHF m

CHF 1.4 1.8

EUR 66.3 72.6

USD 22.0 27.1

JPY 10.8 11.7

GBP 8.2 9.0

CNY 5.6 6.4

SEK 3.4 3.8

Other 25.9 27.7

Total trade receivables, before loss allowance 143.6 160.1

Carrying amounts of trade receivables by currency:

As at December 31, 2023

CHF m
Gross carrying 

amount Loss allowance
Weighted average 

loss rate Credit impaired

Not due 123.0 1.6 1.3% 0.0

Overdue ≤ 30 days 10.5 0.1 1.0% 0.0

Overdue 31 – 90 days 5.5 0.5 9.1% 0.0

Overdue 91 – 180 days 2.6 0.7 26.9% 0.0

Overdue > 180 days 2.0 1.0 50.0% 0.8

Total 143.6 3.9 2.7% 0.8

As at December 31, 2022

CHF m
Gross carrying 

amount Loss allowance
Weighted average 

loss rate Credit impaired

Not due 139.2 1.6 1.1% 0.0

Overdue ≤ 30 days 9.3 0.3 3.2% 0.0

Overdue 31 – 90 days 6.2 0.4 6.5% 0.0

Overdue 91 – 180 days 2.8 0.3 10.7% 0.1

Overdue > 180 days 2.6 1.8 69.2% 0.4

Total 160.1 4.4 2.7% 0.5

The Group employs a model of valuation allowances 
(‘provision matrix’) for trade receivables. In this valua-
tion allowance table, expected losses on receivables 
are determined on the balance sheet date on the basis 

of past experience of default probability and of fu-
ture-oriented expectations based on experience with 
the customers and market conditions.

Trade receivables
The Group’s default risk is affected mainly by the indi-
vidual characteristics of its customers. Management, 
however, also takes into account the characteristics of 
the customer base as a whole, including the default 
risk of the sector and of the countries in which the 
customers operate, since these factors may also affect 
the default risk.

To manage this risk adequately, the financial credit-
worthiness of various customers is constantly moni-
tored. Credit risks are diversified by the company’s 
broad customer base in various industries and geo-
graphic regions and are covered in part by credit in-
surance policies.
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2023 2022

CHF m

January 1 – 4.9 – 4.8
Additions – 1.3 – 1.1

Release 0.8 0.4

Use 0.3 0.3

Translation differences 0.4 0.3

As at December 31 – 4.7 – 4.9

Changes in valuation allowances for doubtful trade 
 receivables during the reporting year:

The creation and release of allowances for doubtful 
trade receivables are included in ‘Other operating 
 expenses and income’ in the income statement.
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24 Related party transactions

Compensation paid to members of the Board of 
 Directors and Executive Board: 

Executive Board Board of Directors Total

CHF m 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Remuneration 2.57 1.81 0.70 1.72 3.27 3.53

Employer contributions to the pension scheme 0.32 0.21 0.00 0.18 0.32 0.39

Share-based payments 0.19 0.68 3.76 2.64 3.95 3.32

Total payments 3.08 2.70 4.46 4.54 7.54 7.24

The compensation paid to the Executive Board con-
sists of a fixed gross base salary in cash, short-term 
variable remuneration in cash, private use of the 
 company car, and social security payments made by 
the company. Employer contributions to the pension 
fund are reported separately. The share-based remu-
neration paid to the Executive Board consists of a 
 following elements: a fixed base salary portion, which 
is paid in shares; short-term variable remuneration 
 under the Management Investment Plan (MIP) for the 
reporting year; and the future subscription rights, 
awarded pro rata for the reporting year and weighted 
in accordance with target achievement in the report-
ing year in the form of performance share units for the 
long-term incentive plans 2021 – 2023, 2022 – 2024 
and 2023 – 2025 (see note 19 ‘Employee participation 
plan’).

The remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in-
cludes a gross base remuneration in cash, employer 
contributions to the usual social insurances, lump sum 
and on-site expenses, and private use of a company 
car (only for the Chairman).

The share-based remuneration paid to the Board of 
Directors includes a gross base remuneration in shares, 
consisting on the one hand of a 40% portion of the 
remuneration in shares for the Board members and,  
on the other hand, of the share-based portion of the 
remuneration for the Chairman.

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group had no 
significant receivables due from or liabilities to related 
parties.
 

25 Events after the balance sheet date

Between the balance sheet date and the date of 
 publication of this annual report no event occurred 
that could have a significant effect on the 2023  annual 
financial statements.
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Group company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Australia
Forbo Floorcoverings Pty. Ltd. Wetherill Park, NSW AUD 1,400,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Pty. Ltd. Wetherill Park, NSW AUD 7,100,000 100% S

Austria
Forbo Flooring Austria GmbH Vienna EUR 72,673 100% S

Forbo Siegling Austria Ges.m.b.H. Vienna EUR 330,000 100% S

Belgium
Forbo Flooring N.V. Groot-Bijgaarden EUR 250,000 100% S

Brazil
Forbo Pisos Ltda. São Paulo BRL 16,564,200 100% S

Forbo Siegling Brasil Ltda. São Paulo BRL 7,008,746 50% MS

Canada
Forbo Flooring Canada Corp. Halifax CAD 500,200 100% S

Forbo Siegling Canada Corp. Halifax CAD 501,000 100% S

Chile
Forbo Siegling Chile S.A. Santiago CLP 313,090,945 50% S

Colombia
Forbo Siegling Colombia S.A.S. Bogotá, D.C. COP 2,250,000,000 100% S

Czech Republic
Forbo Siegling Česká republika s.r.o. Liberec CZK 100,000 100% S

Forbo s.r.o. Prague CZK 500,000 100% S

Denmark
Forbo Flooring A/S Glostrup DKK 500,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Danmark A/S Brøndby DKK 33,000,000 100% MS

Finland
Forbo Flooring Finland Oy Helsinki EUR 33,638 100% S

France

Forbo Château-Renault S.A.S. Château-Renault EUR 1,000,000 100% MS

Forbo Participations S.A.S. Reims D EUR 5,000,000 100% H

Forbo Reims SNC Reims EUR 3,879,810 100% MS

Forbo Sarlino S.A.S. Reims EUR 6,415,500 100% S

Forbo Siegling France S.A.S. Lomme EUR 819,000 100% S

Group companies
(as at December 31, 2023)

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd

 
 
Group company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Germany
Forbo Beteiligungen GmbH Hanover D EUR 15,400,000 100% H

Forbo Eurocol Deutschland GmbH Erfurt EUR 2,050,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring GmbH Paderborn EUR 500,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling GmbH Hanover EUR 10,230,000 100% MS

Great Britain
Forbo Flooring UK Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 22,000,000 100% MS

Forbo Floors UK Ltd. Kirkcaldy GBP 4 100% H

Forbo-Nairn Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 8,000,000 100% H

Forbo Siegling (UK) Ltd. Dukinfield GBP 50,774 100% S

Forbo UK Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 49,500,000 100% H

Westbond Ltd. Derbyshire GBP 400,000 100% H

Hong Kong
Forbo International Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong HKD 1 100% H

India
Forbo Flooring India Pvt. Ltd. Delhi INR 15,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Movement Systems  
India Pvt. Ltd.

Pune INR 26,000,000 100% S

Indonesia
PT Forbo Siegling Indonesia Kabupaten Bandung IDR 6,344,580,000 100% S

Ireland
Forbo Ireland Ltd. Dublin EUR 125,000 100% S

Italy
Forbo Resilienti S.r.l. Segrate (Milan) EUR 60,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Italia S.p.A. Paderno Dugnano 

(Milan)
EUR 120,000 100% S

Japan
Forbo Siegling Japan Ltd. Tokyo JPY 330,000,000 100% MS

Malaysia
Forbo Siegling SDN. BHD. Johor Bahru MYR 2,500,002 100% S

Mexico
Forbo Siegling, S.A. de C.V. Tlalnepantla D MXN 24,676,404 100% MS
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Group company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Netherlands
Forbo Eurocol Nederland B.V. Zaanstad EUR 454,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring B.V. Krommenie EUR 11,350,000 100% MS

Forbo Flooring Coral N.V. Krommenie EUR 1,944,500 100% MS

Forbo NL Holding B.V. Krommenie EUR 13,500,000 100% H

Forbo-Novilon B.V. Coevorden EUR 3,624,000 100% MS

Forbo Siegling Nederland B.V. Spankeren EUR 113,445 100% S

New Zealand
Forbo Siegling Ltd. Auckland NZD 650,000 100% S

Norway
Forbo Flooring AS Asker NOK 1,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Norge AS Oslo NOK 100,000 100% S

People’s Republic of China
Forbo Movement Systems (China) Co., Ltd. Pinghu USD 25,000,000 100% MS

Forbo Shanghai Co., Ltd. Shanghai CHF 4,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling (China) Co., Ltd. Shenyang USD 16,221,000 100% MS

Poland
Forbo Siegling Poland sp. z o.o. Łódź PLN 600,000 100% S

Portugal
Forbo-Revestimentos, S.A. Maia (Porto) EUR 74,850 100% S

Romania
Forbo Siegling Romania S.R.L. Bucharest RON 38,000 100% S

Russia
OOO ‘Forbo Flooring’ Moscow RUB 500,000 100% S

OOO ‘Forbo Kaluga’ Moscow RUB 158,313,780 100% MS

OOO ‘Forbo Siegling CIS’ Saint Petersburg RUB 400,000 100% S

OOO ‘Forbo Eurocol RUS’ Stary Oskol RUB 187,181,000 100% MS

Slovakia
Forbo Siegling s.r.o. Malacky EUR 1,000,000 100% MS

South Korea
Forbo Korea Ltd. Seoul KRW 900,000,000 100% S S

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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Group company Registered office Currency Share capital

Equity 
interest

Flooring 
Systems

Move-
ment 

Systems
Holding/
Services

Spain
Forbo Pavimentos, S.A. Barcelona EUR 60,101 100% S

Forbo Siegling Iberica, S.A.U. Montcada i Reixac  
(Barcelona)

EUR 1,532,550 100% S

Sweden
Forbo Flooring AB Gothenburg SEK 8,000,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling Svenska AB Kållered (Gothenburg) SEK 1,000,000 100% S

Switzerland
Forbo Management SA Baar D CHF 100,000 100% H

Forbo-Giubiasco SA Bellinzona CHF 100,000 100% MS

Forbo Siegling Schweiz AG Wallbach CHF 100,000 100% MS

Thailand
Forbo Siegling (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Samut Prakan D THB 13,005,000 100% S

Turkey
Forbo Hareket ve Zemin Sistemleri Ticaret 
Limited irketi

Istanbul TRY 17,500,000 100% S S

Ukraine
TOB ‘Forbo Flooring Ukraine’ Kyiv UAH 2,000,000 100% S

United Arab Emirates
Forbo Flooring Middle East DMCC Dubai AED 499,000 100% S

USA
Forbo America Inc. Wilmington, DE D USD 19,957,259 100% H

Forbo America Services Inc. Wilmington, DE USD 50,000 100% H

Forbo Flooring, Inc. Wilmington, DE USD 3,517,000 100% S

Forbo Siegling, LLC Wilmington, DE USD 15,455,000 100% MS

S  Sales
MS Manufacturing and Sales
H Holding/Services
D Direct participation of Forbo Holding Ltd
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Report of the statutory auditor

 
 

Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd., Baar 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forbo Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 122 to 165) give a true and fair view of the consoli-
dated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and comply 
with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and Swiss 
Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law, together with the requirements of 
the Swiss audit profession, as well as those of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Interna-
tional Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opin-
ion. 

 Key Audit Matters 

 
VALUATION OF INVENTORIES 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not pro-
vide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

 
VALUATION OF INVENTORIES 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Inventory as at 31 December 2023 amounted to CHF 
264.2 million (31 December 2022: CHF 316.2 million) 
and represents one of the most material asset positions. 
Valuation allowance for inventories as at 31 December 
2023 amounted to CHF -28.4 million (31 December 
2022: CHF -33.8 million). Valuation of inventories is 
consequently of significance to an understanding of the 
financial statements.  

We mainly performed the following audit procedures: 

- We obtained an understanding of the process re-
lated to the identification and valuation obsolete in-
ventories. Based on this, we critically assessed 
whether transactions are completely and accurately 
recorded in the accounts. 
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Die Vorräte werden zu Anschaffungs- bzw. Herstel-
lungskosten angesetzt und periodisch auf ihre Werthal-
tigkeit überprüft. Es besteht bei den Produkten in Arbeit 
und Fertigprodukten das Risiko, dass die Herstellungs-
kosten über dem Verkaufspreis abzüglich der noch an-
fallenden Fertigstellungs-, Vertriebs- und Verwaltungs-
kosten liegen (verlustfreie Bewertung).  

Die Bestimmung der Wertberichtigung beinhaltet ent-
sprechend gewisse Ermessenselemente. 

‒ Unter Berücksichtigung der unterschiedlichen Aus-
gestaltungen des internen Kontrollsystems in ein-
zelnen Tochtergesellschaften, haben wir die Wirk-
samkeit von Schlüsselkontrollen im Zusammen-
hang mit der Bewertung von Vorräten geprüft. Ins-
besondere haben wir an der Bestandesinventur 
teilgenommen und Testzählungen durchgeführt. 

‒ Wir haben die Angemessenheit der Prozesse zur 
Identifikation von obsoleten Vorräten beurteilt so-
wie die Grundlage und die Methode zur Bewertung 
dieser Vorräte kritisch gewürdigt. Die Berechnung 
der Wertberichtigung für obsolete Waren haben wir 
rechnerisch nachvollzogen und die zugrunde lie-
genden Inputparameter geprüft.  

‒ Des Weiteren haben wir die verlustfreie Bewertung 
der Vorräte durch Gegenüberstellen von Kosten 
und Verkaufspreisen überprüft. Dies erfolgte fall-
weise im Rahmen von Stichproben oder unter Be-
rücksichtigung von Massendatenanalysen. 

Weitere Informationen zu den Vorräten sind an folgenden Stellen im Anhang der Konzernrechnung enthalten: 

— Erläuterung 2 – Zusammenfassung wesentlicher Bilanzierungs- und Bewertungsmethoden: Vorräte, S. 132 

— Erläuterung 13 – Vorräte, S. 143 

Sonstige Informationen 

Der Verwaltungsrat ist für die sonstigen Informationen verantwortlich. Die sonstigen Informationen umfassen die 
im Geschäftsbericht enthaltenen Informationen, aber nicht die Konzernrechnung, die Jahresrechnung, die als „ge-
prüft“ gekennzeichneten Tabellen und Stellen im Vergütungs- und Geschäftsbericht und unsere dazugehörigen 
Berichte. 

Unser Prüfungsurteil zur Konzernrechnung erstreckt sich nicht auf die sonstigen Informationen, und wir bringen 
keinerlei Form von Prüfungsschlussfolgerung hierzu zum Ausdruck. 

Im Zusammenhang mit unserer Abschlussprüfung haben wir die Verantwortlichkeit, die sonstigen Informationen 
zu lesen und dabei zu würdigen, ob die sonstigen Informationen wesentliche Unstimmigkeiten zur Konzernrech-
nung oder unseren bei der Abschlussprüfung erlangten Kenntnissen aufweisen oder anderweitig wesentlich 
falsch dargestellt erscheinen. 

Falls wir auf Grundlage der von uns durchgeführten Arbeiten den Schluss ziehen, dass eine wesentliche falsche 
Darstellung dieser sonstigen Informationen vorliegt, sind wir verpflichtet, über diese Tatsache zu berichten. Wir 
haben in diesem Zusammenhang nichts zu berichten. 

Verantwortlichkeiten des Verwaltungsrates für die Konzernrechnung 

Der Verwaltungsrat ist verantwortlich für die Aufstellung einer Konzernrechnung, die in Übereinstimmung mit den 
IFRS Accounting Standards und den gesetzlichen Vorschriften ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen entsprechen-
des Bild vermittelt, und für die internen Kontrollen, die der Verwaltungsrat als notwendig feststellt, um die Aufstel-
lung einer Konzernrechnung zu ermöglichen, die frei von wesentlichen falschen Darstellungen aufgrund von dolo-
sen Handlungen oder Irrtümern ist. 

Bei der Aufstellung der Konzernrechnung ist der Verwaltungsrat dafür verantwortlich, die Fähigkeit des Konzerns 
zur Fortführung der Geschäftstätigkeit zu beurteilen, Sachverhalte im Zusammenhang mit der Fortführung der 
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Inventory is recognized at acquisition or manufacturing 
costs and periodically assessed in terms of recoverabil-
ity. There is a risk that for work in progress and finished 
goods the manufacturing costs exceed the actual sales 
price less selling, distribution and administrative costs 
(net realizable value).  

Furthermore, determining valuation allowances there-
fore involves a certain degree of judgment. 

- Considering the diverse design of internal control of 
individual subsidiaries, we tested the efficacy of
key controls in connection with the valuation of in-
ventories. In particular, we participated in the in-
ventory stock counts and performed test counts.

- We assessed the adequacy of the processes to
identify obsolete inventories and critically evaluat ed 
the basis and methodology used to value these in-
ventories. We verified the calculation of the allow-
ance for obsolete inventories and tested the under-
lying input parameters.

Furthermore, in testing the valuation of inven- 
tories at lower of cost or net realizable value, 
we compared costs and sales prices. This was 
done on a case-by-case basis based on a 
sample or mass data analysis.   

For further information on inventories refer to the following: 

— Note 2 – Summary of significant accounting policies: Inventories page 132 

— Note 13 – Inventories, page 143 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial 
statements of the company, the tables and sections marked “audited” in the remuneration and annual report and 
our auditor’s reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such inter-
nal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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keinerlei Form von Prüfungsschlussfolgerung hierzu zum Ausdruck. 

Im Zusammenhang mit unserer Abschlussprüfung haben wir die Verantwortlichkeit, die sonstigen Informationen 
zu lesen und dabei zu würdigen, ob die sonstigen Informationen wesentliche Unstimmigkeiten zur Konzernrech-
nung oder unseren bei der Abschlussprüfung erlangten Kenntnissen aufweisen oder anderweitig wesentlich 
falsch dargestellt erscheinen. 

Falls wir auf Grundlage der von uns durchgeführten Arbeiten den Schluss ziehen, dass eine wesentliche falsche 
Darstellung dieser sonstigen Informationen vorliegt, sind wir verpflichtet, über diese Tatsache zu berichten. Wir 
haben in diesem Zusammenhang nichts zu berichten. 

Verantwortlichkeiten des Verwaltungsrates für die Konzernrechnung 

Der Verwaltungsrat ist verantwortlich für die Aufstellung einer Konzernrechnung, die in Übereinstimmung mit den 
IFRS Accounting Standards und den gesetzlichen Vorschriften ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen entsprechen-
des Bild vermittelt, und für die internen Kontrollen, die der Verwaltungsrat als notwendig feststellt, um die Aufstel-
lung einer Konzernrechnung zu ermöglichen, die frei von wesentlichen falschen Darstellungen aufgrund von dolo-
sen Handlungen oder Irrtümern ist. 

Bei der Aufstellung der Konzernrechnung ist der Verwaltungsrat dafür verantwortlich, die Fähigkeit des Konzerns 
zur Fortführung der Geschäftstätigkeit zu beurteilen, Sachverhalte im Zusammenhang mit der Fortführung der 

Die Vorräte werden zu Anschaffungs- bzw. Herstel-
lungskosten angesetzt und periodisch auf ihre Werthal-
tigkeit überprüft. Es besteht bei den Produkten in Arbeit 
und Fertigprodukten das Risiko, dass die Herstellungs-
kosten über dem Verkaufspreis abzüglich der noch an-
fallenden Fertigstellungs-, Vertriebs- und Verwaltungs-
kosten liegen (verlustfreie Bewertung).  

Die Bestimmung der Wertberichtigung beinhaltet ent-
sprechend gewisse Ermessenselemente. 

‒ Unter Berücksichtigung der unterschiedlichen Aus-
gestaltungen des internen Kontrollsystems in ein-
zelnen Tochtergesellschaften, haben wir die Wirk-
samkeit von Schlüsselkontrollen im Zusammen-
hang mit der Bewertung von Vorräten geprüft. Ins-
besondere haben wir an der Bestandesinventur 
teilgenommen und Testzählungen durchgeführt. 

‒ Wir haben die Angemessenheit der Prozesse zur 
Identifikation von obsoleten Vorräten beurteilt so-
wie die Grundlage und die Methode zur Bewertung 
dieser Vorräte kritisch gewürdigt. Die Berechnung 
der Wertberichtigung für obsolete Waren haben wir 
rechnerisch nachvollzogen und die zugrunde lie-
genden Inputparameter geprüft.  

‒ Des Weiteren haben wir die verlustfreie Bewertung 
der Vorräte durch Gegenüberstellen von Kosten 
und Verkaufspreisen überprüft. Dies erfolgte fall-
weise im Rahmen von Stichproben oder unter Be-
rücksichtigung von Massendatenanalysen. 

Weitere Informationen zu den Vorräten sind an folgenden Stellen im Anhang der Konzernrechnung enthalten: 

— Erläuterung 2 – Zusammenfassung wesentlicher Bilanzierungs- und Bewertungsmethoden: Vorräte, S. 132 

— Erläuterung 13 – Vorräte, S. 143 

Sonstige Informationen 

Der Verwaltungsrat ist für die sonstigen Informationen verantwortlich. Die sonstigen Informationen umfassen die 
im Geschäftsbericht enthaltenen Informationen, aber nicht die Konzernrechnung, die Jahresrechnung, die als „ge-
prüft“ gekennzeichneten Tabellen und Stellen im Vergütungs- und Geschäftsbericht und unsere dazugehörigen 
Berichte. 

Unser Prüfungsurteil zur Konzernrechnung erstreckt sich nicht auf die sonstigen Informationen, und wir bringen 
keinerlei Form von Prüfungsschlussfolgerung hierzu zum Ausdruck. 

Im Zusammenhang mit unserer Abschlussprüfung haben wir die Verantwortlichkeit, die sonstigen Informationen 
zu lesen und dabei zu würdigen, ob die sonstigen Informationen wesentliche Unstimmigkeiten zur Konzernrech-
nung oder unseren bei der Abschlussprüfung erlangten Kenntnissen aufweisen oder anderweitig wesentlich 
falsch dargestellt erscheinen. 

Falls wir auf Grundlage der von uns durchgeführten Arbeiten den Schluss ziehen, dass eine wesentliche falsche 
Darstellung dieser sonstigen Informationen vorliegt, sind wir verpflichtet, über diese Tatsache zu berichten. Wir 
haben in diesem Zusammenhang nichts zu berichten. 

Verantwortlichkeiten des Verwaltungsrates für die Konzernrechnung 

Der Verwaltungsrat ist verantwortlich für die Aufstellung einer Konzernrechnung, die in Übereinstimmung mit den 
IFRS Accounting Standards und den gesetzlichen Vorschriften ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen entsprechen-
des Bild vermittelt, und für die internen Kontrollen, die der Verwaltungsrat als notwendig feststellt, um die Aufstel-
lung einer Konzernrechnung zu ermöglichen, die frei von wesentlichen falschen Darstellungen aufgrund von dolo-
sen Handlungen oder Irrtümern ist. 

Bei der Aufstellung der Konzernrechnung ist der Verwaltungsrat dafür verantwortlich, die Fähigkeit des Konzerns 
zur Fortführung der Geschäftstätigkeit zu beurteilen, Sachverhalte im Zusammenhang mit der Fortführung der 

Inventory is recognized at acquisition or manufacturing 
costs and periodically assessed in terms of recoverabil-
ity. There is a risk that for work in progress and finished 
goods the manufacturing costs exceed the actual sales 
price less selling, distribution and administrative costs 
(net realizable value).  

Furthermore, determining valuation allowances there-
fore involves a certain degree of judgment. 

- Considering the diverse design of internal control of 
individual subsidiaries, we tested the efficacy of
key controls in connection with the valuation of in-
ventories. In particular, we participated in the in-
ventory stock counts and performed test counts.

- We assessed the adequacy of the processes to
identify obsolete inventories and critically evaluat ed 
the basis and methodology used to value these in-
ventories. We verified the calculation of the allow-
ance for obsolete inventories and tested the under-
lying input parameters.

Furthermore, in testing the valuation of inven- 
tories at lower of cost or net realizable value, 
we compared costs and sales prices. This was 
done on a case-by-case basis based on a 
sample or mass data analysis.   

For further information on inventories refer to the following: 

— Note 2 – Summary of significant accounting policies: Inventories page 132 

— Note 13 – Inventories, page 143 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial 
statements of the company, the tables and sections marked “audited” in the remuneration and annual report and 
our auditor’s reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such inter-
nal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

d
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Report of the statutory auditor

 
 

 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that in-
cludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit con-
ducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consoli-
dated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and main-
tain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, for-
gery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business ac-
tivities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in inter-
nal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to elimi-
nate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those mat-
ters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a mat-
ter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists, 
which has been designed for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements according to the instructions 
of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
 

{{Signatureleft}} {{Signatureright}} 

Regula Tobler 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

André Stampfli 
Licensed Audit Expert 

 
 
Zurich, 4 March 2024 
 
 
 

 

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich 

© 2024 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 
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31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Assets
CHF m

Current assets 523.2 571.6 553.6 668.7 652.1
Cash and cash equivalents 69.1 46.7 93.3 255.8 217.7

Current financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

Trade receivables 138.9 155.2 153.4 141.4 160.4

Other receivables 35.9 39.2 32.2 39.7 23.7

Accrued income and deferred expenses 15.1 14.3 11.8 13.2 14.8

Inventories 264.2 316.2 262.9 218.5 235.5

Non-current assets 378.2 388.6 428.0 442.1 445.3
Non-current financial assets 1.9 1.8 0.2 0.2 0.2

Deferred tax assets 30.7 34.3 37.4 45.4 45.4

Property, plant, and equipment 266.6 267.6 294.8 295.7 291.8

Intangible assets and goodwill 79.0 84.9 95.6 100.8 107.9

Total assets 901.4 960.2 981.6 1,110.8 1,097.4

31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF m

Current liabilities 219.3 291.6 314,5 251.5 257.3
Current financial liabilities 13.2 39.0 50.8 14.1 13.4

Trade payables 86.9 102.5 112.2 94.4 98.1

Other current liabilities 22.4 29.9 30.0 30.4 28.2

Current tax liabilities 16.2 21.2 20.4 16.6 19.0

Current provisions, accrued expenses, and deferred income 80.6 99.0 101.1 96.0 98.6

Non-current liabilities 128.4 118.5 145.3 175.8 163.5
Non-current financial liabilities 26.9 26.6 31.6 31.1 26.8

Deferred tax liabilities 7.4 8.2 9.8 8.9 11.2

Non-current provisions 44.9 42.7 35.5 46.5 46.9

Employee benefit obligations 49.2 41.0 68.4 89.3 78.6

Total liabilities 347.7 410.1 459.8 427.3 420.8
Shareholders’ equity 553.7 550.1 521.8 683.5 676.6
Share capital 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2

Treasury shares – 0.0 – 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1

Reserves and retained earnings 553.6 550.0 521.7 683.4 676.5

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 901.4 960.2 981.6 1,110.8 1,097.4

Consolidated balance sheets  
2019 – 2023
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1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

CHF m

Net sales 1,175.2 1,293.2 1,254.0 1,117.7 1,282.2
Cost of goods sold – 773.5 – 852.4 – 803.0 – 707.5 – 788.6

Gross profit 401.7 440.8 451.0 410.2 493.6
Development costs – 15.7 – 15.6 – 15.9 – 15.2 – 16.0

Marketing and distribution costs – 168.5 – 178.6 – 175.3 – 171.3 – 191.4

Administrative costs – 80.1 – 94.2 – 92.8 – 86.4 – 92.8

Other operating expenses – 17.2 – 27.7 – 7.2 – 15.2 – 26.2

Other operating income 9.7 7.9 19.2 14.9 9.1

Operating profit 129.9 132.6 179.0 137.0 176.3
Financial income 5.7 0.9 3.0 0.7 0.8

Financial expenses – 3.8 – 2.5 – 0.8 – 1.6 – 1.8

Group profit before taxes 131.8 131.0 181.2 136.1 175.3
Income taxes – 29.5 – 29.6 – 40.0 – 29.9 – 37.0

Group profit for the year 102.3 101.4 141.2 106.2 138.3

Consolidated income statements   
2019 – 2023
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31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets
CHF m Note

Current assets 102.3 0.5
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 0.1

Other receivables from Group companies 2 101.9 0.1

Accrued income and deferred expenses 0.3 0.3

Non-current assets 312.5 385.6
Loans to Group companies 3 23.2 96.3

Investments in Group companies 4 289.3 289.3

Total assets 414.8 386.1

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
CHF m Note

Current liabilities 0.8 17.2
Current liabilities to third parties 0.1 0.1

Other liabilities to Group companies 2 0.5 16.8

Accrued expenses and deferred income 0.2 0.3

Shareholders’ equity 414.0 368.9
Share capital 6 0.1 0.1

Statutory reserves:

General reserves 15.6 15.6

Capital contribution reserves 0.0 0.0

Reserves for treasury shares 8 1.2 2.5

Available earnings:

Retained earnings 387.5 283.8

Net profit for the year 87.2 139.0

Treasury shares 8 – 77.6 – 72.1

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 414.8 386.1

Balance sheet for Forbo Holding Ltd  
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Income statement for Forbo Holding Ltd

1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022

Income
CHF m Note

Financial income:

From investments in Group companies 94.8 149.6

From securities and current investments 1.7 0.5

Total income 96.5 150.1

1.1. – 31.12. 2023 2022

Expenses
CHF m Note

Administrative expenses 9 5.5 5.4

Financial expenses 10 3.8 5.7

Direct taxes 5 0.0 0.0

Total expenses 9.3 11.1
Net profit for the year 87.2 139.0
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3 Loans to Group companies

The loans to Group companies were valued at the rate 
prevailing on the balance sheet date; unrealized 
 exchange losses were booked, while unrealized 
 exchange gains were not recognized. The item 
 contained loans at a level of EUR 24.8 million (2022: 
EUR 97.8 million).  

4 Investments in Group companies 

‘Investments in Group companies’ are measured at the 
cost of acquisition less necessary valuation allowances. 

As at December 31, 2023, Forbo Holding Ltd held the 
following direct investments: 

1 Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in 
 accordance with the provisions on accounting and 
 financial reporting of the Swiss Code of Obligations 
(32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Forbo 
Holding Ltd publishes consolidated financial state-
ments according to a generally accepted accounting 
standard (IFRS). Therefore, in accordance with the 
 provisions on accounting and financial reporting, the 
financial statements are presented without disclosure 
notes relating to audit fees or a cash flow statement.

2 Other receivables from and  
liabilities to Group companies

‘Other receivables from Group companies’ comprise 
the claims on cash pool accounts and ‘Other liabilities 
to Group companies’ include primarily the credit 
 balances on cash pool accounts.

Notes to the financial statements 
for Forbo Holding Ltd

Investments in Group companies
Registered office Activity Currency

Share capital
(in 1,000)

Equity
interestCompany

Forbo America Inc. US-Wilmington, DE Holding/Services USD 19,957 100%

Forbo Beteiligungen GmbH DE-Hanover Holding/Services EUR 15,400 100%

Forbo Management SA CH-Baar Holding/Services CHF 100 100%

Forbo Participations S.A.S. FR-Reims Holding/Services EUR 5,000 100%

Forbo Siegling, S.A. de C.V. MX-Tlalnepantla Manufacturing and Sales MXN 24,676 < 0.1%

Forbo Siegling (Thailand) Co. Ltd. TH-Samut Prakan Sales THB 13,005 69.1%
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7 Conditional capital

Originally, conditional capital of CHF 8.5 million for the 
exercise of shareholder options and warrants in con-
nection with a bond issue was created by a resolution 
of the Annual General Meeting held on April 27, 1994. 
Following the exercise of options in 1994, 1995, and 
1997 and reductions in the par value by CHF 22 per 
share in 2003, CHF 8 per share in 2004, CHF 6 per share 
in 2007, CHF 10 per share in 2008, and CHF 3.90 per 
share in 2009, the conditional capital on December 31, 
2023, remained unchanged against the previous year 
at CHF 16,645.

8 Treasury shares

The treasury shares directly held in Forbo Holding Ltd 
amounting to CHF 77.6 million on the balance sheet 
date correspond to the value of all treasury shares val-
ued at cost. The item ‘Reserve for treasury shares’ reflects 
the treasury shares held by subsidiaries of Forbo 
 Holding Ltd, amounting to CHF 1.2 million. Overall, the 
treasury shares held directly and indirectly developed as 
follows over the period under review: 

5 Direct taxes

The item contains only withholding taxes. As in the 
 previous year, Forbo Holding Ltd was able to claim the 
entire participation deduction on dividend income.  

6 Share capital

As at December 31, 2023, the share capital of Forbo 
Holding Ltd totaled CHF 148,500 (2022: CHF 148,500), 
divided into 1,485,000 registered shares with a par val-
ue of CHF 0.10 each. 21,419 registered shares without 
voting or dividend rights are at the disposal of the 
Board of Directors. 

As part of the share buyback program approved by the 
Ordinary General Meeting of April 5, 2019, Forbo 
 Holding Ltd  bought back a total of 165,000 Forbo reg-
istered shares between March 22, 2021, and March 16, 
2022. The shares were repurchased either via the sec-
ond trading line on the SIX Swiss Exchange (90,165 
shares) or at a fixed price (74,835 shares). At the Ordi-
nary General Meeting held on April 1, 2022, the share-
holders of Forbo Holding Ltd authorized the capital 
reduction of 10% of the share capital from CHF 165,000 
to CHF 148,500 with the corresponding amendment 
to the Articles of Association. The capital reduction was 
completed with the entry in the Commercial Register 
of the Canton of Zug on June 16, 2022, and was 
 published in the SHAB on June 21, 2022. The exchange 
adjustment took place on the same day.

Treasury shares  Cost 
CHF

Number of  
registered shares

As at January 1, 2023 74.5 72,240

Additions 18.1 15,072

Disposals – 13.8 – 9,668

As at December 31, 2023 78.8 77,644
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11 Contingent liabilities

Guarantees and letters of support to third parties in 
favor of Group companies amounted to CHF 8.3 million 
at year-end 2023 (2022: CHF 5.9 million), of which 
none were utilized. 

The Group companies in Switzerland are treated for 
purposes of value-added tax as a single-entity subject 
to value-added tax (group taxation regime, Article 13, 
Federal Act on Value-Added Tax). If one of the Group 
companies is unable to meet its payment obligations 
to the Federal Tax Administration, the other Group 
companies bear joint and several liability.

12 Events after the balance sheet date

Between the balance sheet date and the date of 
 publication of this annual report no event occurred 
that could have a significant effect on the 2023  annual 
financial statements.

9  Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses included stewardship costs, 
the fees paid to the members of the Board of  Directors, 
the auditor’s fees, and usual administrative costs, 
mainly for the Ordinary General Meeting, the share 
register, insurance, and legally required announce-
ments. Forbo Holding Ltd does not employ any 
 personnel.

10 Financial expenses

The financial expenses reflect primarily foreign 
 currency losses on loans to Group companies. 
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The Board of Directors proposes to the Ordinary 
 General Meeting that the available retained earnings, 
consisting of: 

2023

CHF m

Net profit 87.2

Retained earnings 387.5

Treasury shares – 77.6

Total at the shareholders’ meeting’s disposal 397.1

be appropriated as follows:

2023

CHF m

Distribution ordinary dividend 35.2

To be carried forward 361.9

Total at the shareholders’ meeting’s disposal 397.1

At the Ordinary General Meeting of April 5, 2024, the 
Board of Directors will propose an ordinary gross 
 dividend of CHF 25.00 per registered share (2022: CHF 
23.00). No distribution will be made for treasury shares 
held by Forbo Holding Ltd or any of its subsidiaries on 
the record date, which explains why the amount for 
distribution as ordinary dividends may still change.

Proposal for appropriation of available 
earnings of Forbo Holding Ltd
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Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd., Baar 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Forbo Holding Ltd. (the Company), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2023, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements (pages 174 to 178) comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles  
of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsi-
bilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law, together with the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opin-
ion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to com-
municate in our report. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial 
statements of the Company, the tables and sections marked “audited” in the remuneration and annual report and 
our auditor’s reports thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Report of the statutory auditor
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Statutory Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting of Forbo Holding Ltd., Baar 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forbo Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 122 to 165) give a true and fair view of the consoli-
dated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and comply 
with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and Swiss 
Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law, together with the requirements of 
the Swiss audit profession, as well as those of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Interna-
tional Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opin-
ion. 

 Key Audit Matters 

 
VALUATION OF INVENTORIES 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not pro-
vide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

 
VALUATION OF INVENTORIES 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Inventory as at 31 December 2023 amounted to CHF 
264.2 million (31 December 2022: CHF 316.2 million) 
and represents one of the most material asset positions. 
Valuation allowance for inventories as at 31 December 
2023 amounted to CHF -28.4 million (31 December 
2022: CHF -33.8 million). Valuation of inventories is 
consequently of significance to an understanding of the 
financial statements.  

We mainly performed the following audit procedures: 

- We obtained an understanding of the process re-
lated to the identification and valuation obsolete in-
ventories. Based on this, we critically assessed 
whether transactions are completely and accurately 
recorded in the accounts. 
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Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provi-
sions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Di-
rectors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going con-
cern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease opera-
tions, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opin-
ion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-
ance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-
ror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement re-
sulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in inter-
nal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to elimi-
nate threats or safeguards applied. 
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From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those mat-
ters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system ex-
ists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the Com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
 
 

{{Signatureleft}} {{Signatureright}} 

Regula Tobler 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

André Stampfli 
Licensed Audit Expert 

 
 
Zurich, 4 March 2024 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
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We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
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Regula Tobler 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

André Stampfli 
Licensed Audit Expert 
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